# Separation and Purification Methods Volume 28(1) 1999, pp. 1-50

# APPLICATION OF THE PHOTOCATALYTIC CHEMISTRY OF TITANIUM DIOXIDE TO DISINFECTION AND THE KILLING OF CANCER CELLS

Daniel M. Blake, Pin-Ching Maness, Zheng Huang, Edward J. Wolfrum, and Jie Huang The National Renewable Laboratory 1617 Cole Boulevard Golden, Colorado 80401-3393

> William A. Jacoby Department of Chemical Engineering W2016 Engineering Building East University of Missouri Columbia, MO 65211

#### **Table of Contents**

Abstract2	
ntroduction	
Background	
Mode of Action of TiO <sub>2</sub>	
Photocatalytic Reactor Configurations9	
Structure of Target Organisms1	0
Bacteria1	0
Viruses	3
Fungi1	4
Cancer Cells1	5
Biological Effects of TiO <sub>2</sub> and Photocatalytic Chemistry $1^{1}$	6
Bacteria, Fungi, and Yeasts	6
Dental Applications	7
Tumor Cells	8
Viruses	Õ
Photocatalytic Damage to Cellular Molecules	Ő

Toxicity Studies of TiO <sub>2</sub> Particles	31
Mechanism of Cell Killing	34
Patents	40
Summary	44
Acknowledgement	44
References	45

# Abstract

This article will review the work that has been published on disinfection and the killing of cancer cells using photocatalytic chemistry with titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>). This is an application of photocatalytic chemistry that has been under active investigation since 1985. Because the nature of the research is such that it brings together disparate disciplines, this review provides background on photocatalytic chemistry, fundamental characteristics of target organisms, potential applications, and the toxicology of titanium dioxide. Literature identified in searches done through September 1998 is included.

# Introduction

This article will review the work that has been published worldwide on disinfection and the killing of cancer cells using photocatalytic chemistry with titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>). Health effects of titanium dioxide are also covered since applications of photocatalytic technology will bring a range of organisms into contact with crystalline and particulate forms of the photocatalyst. This is an application of photocatalysis that has been receiving increasing attention since the first report of microbiocidal effects by Matsunaga, Tomada, Nakajima, and Wake in 1985.<sup>1</sup> The research community that has been most active in the study of photocatalytic chemistry is composed mainly of chemists and chemical engineers who are often unfamiliar with the photochemistry and reactor issues associated with photocatalytic systems. For this reason this review will provide a brief introduction to the structure of target organisms and to current practices for disinfection as

required to discuss the interaction of microorganisms with activated photocatalyst surfaces and the chemical species produced when titanium dioxide surfaces are irradiated. Patent literature that includes claims related to this topic is also included. Titanium dioxide has been used extensively as a white pigment and as a cosmetic ingredient. Literature that studies the potential health effects of  $TiO_2$  exposure is also included in this review.

Photocatalytic chemistry of titanium dioxide has been extensively studied over the last 25 years for removal of organic and inorganic compounds from contaminated water and air and for the partial oxidation of organic compounds. The most active photocatalysts are formulations based on the anatase crystal phase, and most work has been done using the P25 form of TiO<sub>2</sub> produced by Degussa Chemical Company (Germany). This material is a mixture of phases with an approximate composition of 75% anatase and 25% rutile and has a BET surface area of about 50 m<sup>2</sup>/g. The literature for the photocatalytic oxidation or reduction of organic and inorganic compounds has been the subject of comprehensive bibliographies<sup>2,3,4</sup> and numerous reviews. <sup>5,6,7,8,9</sup> Engineering requirements for practical photocatalytic systems have been discussed.<sup>10</sup> A recent review includes some coverage of the application of photocatalytic chemistry to disinfection.<sup>11</sup> Work by Japanese groups has been included in short reviews.<sup>12,13,14</sup>

# Background

There are many circumstances where it is necessary or desirable to remove or kill microorganisms found in water, air, on surfaces, or in a biological host. Disinfection of water is required for direct human consumption as well as in the production of products to be consumed by humans or animals. Disinfection of air is required in medical facilities, in production processes where biological contamination must be prevented, and in facilities that raise or care for experimental animals and plants that may be sensitive to infectious agents. Disinfection can require the removal or deactivation of pathogenic bacteria, viruses, protozoa, or fungi. The status of methods to disinfect drinking water has been reviewed.<sup>15,16,17</sup> This is a particular challenge in rural areas of developing countries. The most widely used methods in developed countries are chlorination and ozonation, but germicidal lamps (low pressure mercury vapor lamps emitting at

254 nm) are being evaluated and used on a large scale. Disinfection of air can be accomplished by the use of germicidal lamps<sup>18</sup> or size exclusion filters (high efficiency particle air, HEPA, filters).<sup>19,20,21</sup> Biocides are widely used for control of biofilm growth in cooling towers and chilled water systems. Surfaces can be disinfected by ozone exposure, irradiation with UV light, washing with disinfectants, or application of heat.<sup>22</sup> Some of the methods relevant to this review are summarized in Table I and compared with the modes of action proposed for TiO<sub>2</sub> systems.

TABLE I. Modes of microbe removal or killing action for various disinfection methods.

Method	OH	$O_2^{-}, H_2O_2$	Cl	hυ	Adsorption	Trapping
UV (254 nm)				х		
Chlorine			Х			
TiO <sub>2</sub> (300-380 nm)	х	Х		(a)	Х	(b)
TiO <sub>2</sub> (254 nm)	х	Х		X	Х	(b)
HEPA filter						X

(a) Near ultraviolet light may have some killing effect on sensitive organisms.

(b) In some catalyst configurations the titanium dioxide layer may act as a particle filter.

Photocatalytic methods are unique in having several modes of action that can be brought to bear on disinfection. The target of disinfection processes are pathogenic organisms including viruses, bacteria, fungi, protozoa, and algae. Each presents a challenge in terms of the structure and defense mechanisms that must be overcome. The current disinfection technologies rely on chemical or photochemical induced damage or physical removal by filtration. Mechanisms for the killing of cells by conventional methods have been covered in earlier reviews.<sup>15,16,23,24,25</sup> Irradiation from germicidal lamps, 254 nm, results in cross-linking of thymine groups in DNA. Free radicals such as chlorine atom or hydroxyl radical, OH<sup>•</sup>, can result in DNA strand breakage

or initiate autoxidation of lipids or other cell components. Ozone or singlet oxygen can attack molecular structures found in cell components with some selectivity.

Organisms have evolved defense and repair mechanisms to overcome photochemical and oxidative damage that allow them to live in an aerobic environment and to deal with the low levels of UV radiation found in sunlight. All life forms are sensitive to damage to DNA macromolecules, therefore, nature has equipped cells with several defense and repair mechanisms against such damage. In particular ultraviolet light in the germicidal range around 254 nm causes the adjacent thymine bases on a DNA strand to form a thymine dimer, thus blocking protein synthesis and disabling the proper replication of the DNA helix during cell division cycle. Cells then respond by either undergoing a photochemical repair using a photolyase enzyme, or by dark excision repair using endonuclease, exonuclease, DNA polymerase, and ligase enzymes.<sup>24,26,27</sup>

It is well documented that an increased pressure of oxygen is toxic to all forms of life, and the production of oxygen radicals is the root cause of oxygen toxicity. During respiration the stepwise reduction of oxygen leading to  $H_2O$  generates the reactive intermediates superoxide radical ( $O_2^{-}$ ) and hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ), both of which are reactive toward biological macromolecules and can be precursors for hydroxyl radical.<sup>28</sup> Therefore, all organisms prevailing in the aerobic atmosphere have evolved a protective mechanism to scavenge both  $O_2^{-}$  and  $H_2O_2$  to a very low steady-state concentration.

Indeed, all aerobic life forms are reported to have a superoxide dismutase (SOD) enzyme to dismutate  $O_2^-$  to  $H_2O_2$  and  $O_2$ , and a catalase enzyme to convert  $H_2O_2$  to  $H_2O$  and additional  $O_2$  as innocuous end products.<sup>29,30</sup> Several procaryotes including *E. coli*, have evolved to produce different forms of SOD strategically distributed within a cell to shield the cells from any oxidative damage resulting from their normal metabolism. In *E. coli*, an Fe-SOD is distributed along the periphery of the cytoplasm close to the inner membrane to dissipate any radicals produced from aerobic respiratory pathways. A second cytoplasmic Mn-SOD is more abundant in the central region of the cell where the nucleoid is in order to protect DNA from damage caused by oxidants. A third Cu,Zn-SOD, found exclusively in the periplasm, is proposed to

guard the cells from any exogenous source of  $O_2^-$ , whether produced from the immediate hostile environment or by other phagocytic cells.<sup>25</sup>

In some cases it is not sufficient to kill or remove the microorganism responsible for a pathogenic or allergic response. Some bacteria produce endotoxins and exotoxins. Some Gram-positive bacteria and, less commonly, Gram-negative bacteria release exotoxins into the medium of the growing culture. These are most often heat sensitive proteins. Endotoxins are most frequently produced within Gram-negative bacteria and are not released unless the outer membrane becomes damaged. Endotoxins are usually lipopolysaccharides. Contact with these compounds can give rise to medical problems, and allergic responses can be caused by cell structures that persist even after the cell is no longer viable.<sup>31</sup>

## Mode of action of TiO<sub>2</sub>

Two crystalline forms of TiO<sub>2</sub> have photocatalytic activity, anatase and rutile. Anatase has a band gap of 3.2 eV and for rutile it is 3.0 eV. Anatase has been found to be the most active form. The action spectrum for anatase shows a sharp decrease in activity above about 385 nm. The photocatalytic process includes chemical steps that produce reactive species that in principal can cause fatal damage to microorganisms.<sup>5,6,7,8,11</sup> The steps are summarized in Table II and include formation of the following species: hydroxyl radical, hydrogen peroxide, superoxide, conduction band electron, and valence band hole.<sup>32</sup> Formation of singlet oxygen on irradiated TiO<sub>2</sub> has also been reported<sup>33</sup> but is not usually considered to be present under the usual conditions of disinfection reactions. The reactive oxygen species (ROS) may disrupt or damage various cell or viral functions or structures. The preponderance of evidence on photocatalytic chemistry in aqueous solution suggests that the hydroxyl radical formed by hole transfer does not diffuse from the surface of the TiO<sub>2</sub> into bulk aqueous phase.<sup>34</sup>

For a cell or virus in contact with the titanium dioxide surface there may also be direct electron or hole transfer to the organism or one of its components. If titanium dioxide particles are of

TABLE II. Mechanism of a photocatalytic process on irradiated titanium dioxide.

**Electron-Hole Pair Formation** 

 $TiO_2 + h\nu \rightarrow TiO_2^- + OH^{\bullet}$  (or  $TiO_2^+$ ) (conduction band electron and valence band hole)

Electron removal from the conduction band  $TiO_2^- + O_2 + H^+ \rightarrow TiO_2 + HO_2^ TiO_2^- + H_2O_2 + H^+ \rightarrow TiO_2 + H_2O + OH^{\bullet}$  $TiO_2^- + H^+ \rightarrow TiO_2 + \mathbf{2} H_2$ 

 $\begin{array}{l} Oxidation \ of \ organic \ compounds \\ OH^{\bullet} + O_2 + C_n O_m H_{(2n \cdot 2m + 2)} \mathop{\longrightarrow} nCO_2 + (n \cdot m + 1) H_2 O \end{array}$ 

Nonproductive Radical Reactions  $TiO_2^- + OH^{\bullet} + H^+ \rightarrow TiO_2 + H_2O$  (recombination)  $2OH^{\bullet} \rightarrow H_2O_2$   $2HO_2^- \rightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$   $OH^{\bullet} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow H_2O + O_2$  $OH^{\bullet} + HCO_3^- \rightarrow CO_3^{\bullet^-} + H_2O$ 

small size, they may penetrate into the cell and these processes could occur in the interior. Since light is an essential component of the photocatalytic system, there can also be direct photochemistry as there would be from any UV source. There is also the possibility for enhanced or unique photochemistry resulting from the irradiation of the microbe while it is adsorbed on an oxide surface, as has been observed for molecules.<sup>35</sup> The relative sizes of molecular or biological targets of photocatalytic chemistry and the most commonly used form of TiO<sub>2</sub>, Degussa P25, may have some significance. These are given in Table III. Orientation and distance effects are likely to be more pronounced in the case of microbes which are comparable in size to aggregates of the titanium dioxide particles.

Hydroxyl radicals are highly reactive and therefore short-lived. Superoxide ions are more longlived; however, due to the negative charge they cannot penetrate the cell membrane. Upon their TABLE III. Relative sizes of  $TiO_2$  particles and target or other representative species that may be present in media being treated.

<u>Species</u>	Size, microns
Benzene Molecule	0.00043
TiO <sub>2</sub> Crystalite (Degussa P25)	0.03
TiO <sub>2</sub> Agglomerate (in water)	1-3
Virus	0.01-0.3
E. coli (rod shape)	1 X 3
Yeast Cell	1-5 X 5-30
Protozoa	1-2000
Atmospheric Dust	0.001-13
Tobacco Smoke	0.01-1

production on the  $TiO_2$  surface, both hydroxyl radicals and superoxide would have to interact immediately with the outer surface of an organism unless the  $TiO_2$  particle has penetrated into the cell. Compared to hydroxyl radicals and superoxide ions, hydrogen peroxide is less detrimental. However, hydrogen peroxide can enter the cell and be activated by ferrous ion via the Fenton reaction.

$$Fe^{+2} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow OH^{\bullet} + OH^{-1} + Fe^{+3}$$

The ability of bacteria, such as *E. coli*, to sequester iron is well documented.<sup>36,37</sup> Iron levels on the cell surface, in the periplasmic space or inside the cell, either as iron clusters or in iron storage proteins (such as ferritin) are significant and can serve as a source of ferrous ion. Therefore, while the TiO<sub>2</sub> is being illuminated to produce  $H_2O_2$ , the Fenton reaction may take place *in vivo* and produce the more damaging hydroxyl radicals.<sup>38,39</sup> When the light is turned off, any residual hydrogen peroxide would continue to interact with the iron species and generate additional hydroxyl radicals through the Fenton reaction. When both  $H_2O_2$  and superoxide ion are present, the iron-catalyzed Haber-Weiss reaction can provide a second pathway to form additional hydroxyl radicals.<sup>40</sup>

$$Fe^{+3} + O_2^- \rightarrow Fe^{+2} + O_2$$
  
$$Fe^{+2} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{+3} + OH^- + OH^{\bullet}.$$

Since the initial actions of these reactive oxygen species (ROS) target the outer surface of a cell, the rigidity and chemical arrangements of their surface structure will determine how effectively the TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalytic disinfection process functions.

# **Photocatalytic Reactor Configurations**

Photocatalytic reactors are designed to operate in either a liquid-solid system (*e.g.*, water disinfection) or a gas-solid system (*e.g.*, air disinfection). The two systems have implications with respect to reactor design. Another important distinction is whether the catalyst is fixed, i.e. immobile within the system, or moveable. Therefore, photocatalytic reactors fall into four broad categories:<sup>5,10,11</sup>

1) <u>Liquid-solid, moveable bed reactors</u>. These systems typically involve slurries of  $TiO_2$  suspended in the liquid to be treated. The concentration of  $TiO_2$  typically ranges between 0.05% and 1% by weight. Light penetration limitations prevent the use of higher concentrations. The catalyst flows into and out of the reactor with the liquid being treated. Typically either natural or artificial irradiation sources are external to the system, and the photons are transmitted through UV-transparent ports. A subsequent separation step is necessary to remove the  $TiO_2$  from the treated water.

<u>Liquid-solid</u>, fixed bed reactors. Due to lower reaction rates, these systems are uncommon.
The relatively low extent of contact between the catalyst and the molecules to be oxidized leads to mass transport limitations in fixed bed aqueous systems.

3) <u>Gas-solid moveable bed reactors</u>. Fluidized bed systems have been studied for destruction of chemicals in air. The catalyst particles are not entrained in the air stream. Rather, in a properly

designed system, the catalyst is contained in the irradiated reactor vessel. An entrained bed system could also be envisioned since separating the catalyst particles from the air stream is easier than separation from a water slurry. It has been postulated that a moveable bed reactor may benefit from the "light-dark" phenomena explored by Sczechowski and coworkers for the liquid-solid system.<sup>41</sup>

4) <u>Gas-solid fixed bed reactors</u>. Reactors of this type have been widely studied and fabricated in a variety of geometries. Annular reactors typically feature an inner annulus which is the light source or may have a UV-transparent sheath around the light source. The inside surface of the outer annulus is often coated with  $TiO_2$  via a variety of methods, leading to even illumination of the coated surfaces. The annular region can also be filled with  $TiO_2$  crystals or substrates coated with  $TiO_2$ . Other geometries include powder layer reactors in which the powder is supported on a frit, and the fluid to be treated flows normally through the powder and the frit. External illumination is provided through a UV-transparent window. UV-transparent tubes, filled with catalyst particles or coated with catalyst have also been externally illuminated with both natural and artificial light.

### **Structure of Target Organisms**

The common microbes carried by indoor air or in a water stream are very diverse. Therefore, an understanding of the microbial morphology will aid in the design of more efficient photocatalytic technologies for specific disinfection applications.

### Bacteria

Bacteria are procaryotic microorganisms that do not contain the nucleus characteristic of cells of higher plants and animals (eucaryotic cells). The DNA molecules do not have a nuclear membrane to separate them from the cytoplasm. The cytoplasm of procaryotic cells is not differentiated into distinguishable units for specialized functions; for example, respiration takes place on the cell membrane. Although there are thousands of different species of bacteria, most of them fall into three general morphologies: spherical, rod or spiral.<sup>42</sup> They range in size from 0.5

to 5 microns in maximum dimensions. Based on the different ability of their cell wall components to be stained by the Gram stain, bacteria are divided into two classes: Gram-positive and Gramnegative organisms. Gram-positive bacteria have the classical cell wall, of 20 - 80 nm in thickness which is composed mainly of a peptidoglycan polymer. In many Gram-positive bacteria the thick peptidoglycan layer accounts for nearly 80% of their cell wall components. The rest of the components are 10 to 20% of teichoic acids, and minor amounts of lipids, proteins and lipopolysaccharides. The cell wall of the Gram-negative cells is chemically more complex. Here the peptidoglycan layer is thinner (2-6 nm thickness) and accounts for only 10% of the cell wall. The outermost layer of Gram-negative bacteria, the outer membrane, is about 6 to 18 nm thick and accounts for the rest of the cell wall. The outer membrane consists of 50% lipopolysaccharides, 35% phospholipids, and 15% lipoproteins. Together, the peptidoglycan and outer membrane provide mechanical protection to maintain intact cell morphology and determine antigenicity and sensitivity to phage infection, similar to the functions of Gram-positive cells. In addition, the outer membrane of Gram-negative cells influences permeability of many moderate or large size molecules. The added impairment of material accessibility through the outer membrane explains why under certain circumstances the Gram-negative bacteria are more resistant to many chemical agents than the Gram-positive cells.<sup>43,44</sup>

Underneath the cell wall of all bacteria lies the cytoplasmic or plasma membrane, which is about 7.5 nm in thickness and is composed of the phospholipid bilayer. The cytoplasmic membrane is extremely important in maintaining viability of cells. It has the unique property of selective permeability--allowing the passage of certain metabolites in and out of cells while excluding other compounds. In addition to maintaining osmotic equilibrium, the cytoplasmic membrane also contains the necessary enzymes for the synthesis, assembly, and transport of cell wall components. Perhaps most important of all, the procaryotic cell membrane contains the machinery for the electron-transport and oxidative phosphorylation reactions. The electron carriers and enzymes responsible for the redox reactions must be properly linked on the membrane in order to couple the free energy change to ATP synthesis. Therefore, any disruption to the cell membrane integrity will cause the discharge of membrane potential and impose detrimental effects on cell survival.<sup>45</sup>

it is also involved in the replication and segregation of DNA molecules during cell division.<sup>46</sup>

The periplasmic space in Gram-negative cells, and less distinctly in Gram-positive cells, lies between the cytoplasmic membrane and cell wall.<sup>47</sup> Many enzymes, proteins, and electron mediators are present in this dynamic, gel like environment. Any materials that have gained entry through the outer membrane and are still too large to permeate through the cell membrane are processed by hydrolytic enzymes. Components of the cell wall and outer membrane are also turned over here, and newly made materials are shuttled through this space before reaching their final destination. Many electron mediators are positioned in this space and participate in energy-yielding reactions. Since this compartment is immediately affected by a microbe's external environments, it may play a critical role in defending the cell against foreign agents.

The exterior surface of some bacteria may have other structures and materials such as slimes, sheaths, s-layers, and cilia.<sup>43</sup> The slime layer or capsule of certain bacteria is very viscous and acts as a protective coating to the cell wall. The capsules can serve as stored food for the organisms and increase the infective capability for pathogenic organisms. The viscous slime layer also enables bacteria to colonize as biofilms on solid surfaces such as air filters, or to attach to dust particles and travel in air. Some or all of these structures may be formed in response to environmental stimuli and can be absent in bacteria cultivated in a relatively benign laboratory culture. These phenomena certainly will have a significant influence on their survival. Any treatment process would have to incorporate appropriate responses in the design to operate effectively.

Under severe environmental conditions certain bacteria, especially those from the genera of *Bacillus* and *Clostridium*, can produce spores within their cells (endospores). The bacterial spore contains a unique Ca<sup>+2</sup>-dipicolinic acid-peptidoglycan complex, quite different from its parent vegetative cell.<sup>48</sup> It is believed that the nature of this complex, along with its dehydrated protoplast, and the extent of mineralization account for the spore's extreme resistance to many adverse physical and chemical agents.<sup>49</sup> Sporulation represents a dormant stage during the development of a cell's life cycle. Their durability allows them to survive for a long time while

being carried by dust in air--only to germinate when nutrients become available.

The thick wall of spores is impermeable to most damaging agents. However,  $H_2O_2$  and organic peroxides are reported to penetrate freely.<sup>49</sup> Most spores contain a high levels of transition metal, therefore, a Fenton-type reaction is likely to take place under this condition. The degradation of the outer coat by these radicals is not lethal to the subsequent germination of the de-coated spores. Nevertheless, once the protective coat is removed, the protoplast and its membrane become the target of direct radical attack, a lethal event. Therefore, destruction of spores by oxidative damage using the photocatalytic process is a viable concept.

#### Viruses

Viruses constitute a group of heterogeneous and much simpler organisms.<sup>42</sup> They range in size from 0.01 to  $0.3\mu$ , much smaller than bacteria. Viruses are unique in that they have no independent metabolic activities and have to rely solely on infecting living hosts to reproduce themselves. Unlike all other forms of life, viruses may contain either DNA or RNA as the genetic materials, but not both. The nucleic materials are surrounded by a protein coat to protect them from harmful agents in the environment. The protein coat also provides the specific binding site necessary for the attachment of a virus to its host. Some viruses also contain an outer envelope made up of lipids, polysaccharides, and protein molecules. The lipids and polysaccharides are of host cell origin, and their presence allows a virus to fuse with a host cell and thus gain entry.

A virus not having the outer envelope infects a cell in quite a different manner. Infection is initiated by the attachment of a specialized site on the surface of the protein coat of the virus onto a specific receptor site on the surface of the host cell. Once this binding is complete viruses can release genetic materials into the host cell and take advantage of the machinery of the host cell to reproduce and assemble themselves. These newly-produced viruses are now ready to infect other neighboring cells. Therefore, one of the key processes to disable viruses is through the control of their surface structures, especially their binding sites, so they can no longer recognize the receptor sites on the host cells. Since the TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalytic process attacks most effectively on the cell

surface, it may be a viable technology to disinfect viruses through modification of their surface structures.

### Fungi

Fungi (including mold and yeast) are very diverse in their morphology.<sup>42,50</sup> Except for unicellular yeast, most fungi exist as multicellular filaments. Fungi are eucaryotic organisms (their genetic materials are enclosed in a nucleus surrounded by a membrane). Another feature of eucaryotic cell is that its cytoplasm contains many highly differentiated units—organelles, each of which performs a specific cellular function. For example, the respiratory pathway in eucaryotic cells is located in the organelle mitochondria. Fungi are heterotrophs, obtaining their food either by infecting a living host as parasites, or by causing the decay of dead organic matter. The most common method of reproduction is by asexual spore formation. These air-borne spores, about 5-15 $\mu$  in average size, can spread over a wide area and contaminate food, cause diseases for both plants and animals, and act as allergens for humans.

Similar to bacteria, the cytoplasmic membrane of a fungus is surrounded by a cell wall structure. Unlike bacteria, the fungal cell walls are lamellar with each layer consisting of fibrils criss-crossing one another in various directions.<sup>50</sup> The principal constituents of the fungal cell wall are various types of polysaccharides with minor amounts of lipid and protein. Chitin has been reported as the common polysaccharide component present in all fungal cell walls.<sup>51</sup>

Fungi are known to survive in severely stressful conditions where bacteria cannot. Due to their tougher cell wall structure, fungi can withstand high osmotic pressures. Fungi can also tolerate a wide range of pH and can extract water from solutions of high salt or sugar concentration when necessary to support growth. Although fungal diseases are not as widespread as those caused by bacteria, they are harder to diagnose clinically. Fungal diseases usually progress more slowly and pose a chronic health problem. Since both fungi and humans are of eucaryotic cell type, any agent that kills fungal cells may also cause damage to the human body. This is the reason that while many antibiotics have been developed to overcome infections caused by procaryotic cells, very

few treatments have been developed to target fungi effectively.

# **Cancer Cells**

So far, the discussion has focused on normal cellular structures. In humans and other multicellular organisms, the volumes of the individual tissues and organs are relatively constant and appropriately proportioned according to the size of the body. Furthermore, the organization of the tissues within organs and the differentiated character of individual cells of the tissues are also stable. This stability of tissue volume, differentiation, and organizations is particularly important to the maintenance of normal function. However, in a multicellular organism the regulation mechanisms controlling cell division sometimes may go wrong. In this situation, the stability of the organization of tissues and organs is destroyed. Consequently, a variety of diseases arise. One example is the formation of tumor due to uncontrolled growth. Tumors can be classified either as benign or malignant based on their tendency to spread. The common term for a malignant tumor is cancer. Cancer is a disease originating from abnormal gene expression. Cancer cells develop from a single progenitor cell that has undergone a series of permanent, heritable changes. This process, called neoplastic transformation, involves a number of mechanisms and includes direct damage to DNA (such as gene mutations, translocations, or amplifications) and abnormal gene transcription or translation.<sup>52</sup> Cancers arising from epithelial structures are called carcinomas; those that originate from connective tissues, muscle, cartilage, fat or bone are called sarcomas; and malignant tumors affecting hemopoietic structures, including the immune system, are called leukemias and lymphomas.

Often, cells from either animal or human origin can be cultured *in vitro* independent of other cells. This kind of tissue culture has become the most useful means to study the regulation of tissue growth in both normal and cancerous cells. In a cell culture normal cells are able to undergo only a finite number of cell doublings before they lose the ability to divide. However, cancer cells lack this regulation and are essentially immortal, capable of undergoing unlimited numbers of division. For example, the first cancer cells successfully brought into culture were isolated originally from cervical carcinoma in 1951. These cells were named Hela cells, in honor of Henrietta Lacks, the

woman who contracted the cervical carcinoma and eventually died of the disease. These cells have been in culture for more than 40 years and have undergone countless cell doublings with no sign of diminishing vigor. Hela cells still grow vigorously and are used worldwide. Normal cells grown in cultures typically resemble the cells from which they are derived and tend to retain some degree of differentiation that sets them apart from cells isolated from other tissues. However, cancer cells grown in culture will often look completely different from the tissue from which they are derived. Certain cancer cells retain no differentiating features at all, making it impossible to determine their origin.

# Biological Effects of TiO<sub>2</sub> and Photocatalytic Chemistry

The first report of photocatalytic disinfection was the work of Matsunaga and coworkers in 1985.<sup>1</sup> That work and the research that has followed have been primarily with bacteria and tumor cells but there are a few studies on yeasts, viruses, and other types of cells. *E. coli* has been the most studied organism. Most work has been in aqueous phase, but there are reports of removal of bacteria from humid air.<sup>53,54,55</sup> Table IV summarizes the organisms that have been studied, some of their characteristics, and references to the work on photocatalytic responses. Representative conditions and results are presented in Table V. The work done and results are discussed in the following sections.

#### **Bacteria, Fungi, and Yeasts**

Most studies have been done with organisms grown in laboratory cultures with the exception of work on pond water<sup>56</sup> or secondary waste treatment effluent.<sup>56,57,58,59</sup> The usual procedure has been to grow the organisms, separate them from the culture medium, wash them, and then resuspend them to a known concentration in buffer, saline solution, or deionized water. The same method has been used in the studies of disinfection of air. In the air phase work the cell

### Table IV. Organisms Tested with Titanium Dioxide Under Light Conditions

Organism	Gram +/-	Shape/Size (µm)	Reference
Bacteria			
Escherichia coli	-	rod/1 X 3	1, 25, 56, 58, 59, 66, 68, 69, 71, 72, 77, 78, 80, 81, 82, 87, 90, 172, 174
Pseudomonas stutzeri	-	rod/ 0.5-1 X 1.5-4	84
Seratia marcescens	-	rod/0.5-0.8 X 0.9-2.0	53, 54, 56, 66
Staphyloccus aureus	+	spherical/0.5-2.0	66, 77
Clostridium perfringens spores		Oval, subterminal	87
Salmonella typhimurium	-	rod/0.7-1.5 X 2.0 - 5.0	25, 169
Streptococcus mutans	+	spherical/0.5-2.0	67, 94, 70
Lactobacillus acidophilus	+	rod/0.6-0.9 X 1.5-6.0	1
Streptococcus cricetus	+	Spherical/ < 2	76
Streptococcus rattus	+	Spherical/ <2	76
Actinomyces viscosus	+	rod/0.5 X 1.6-2.0	76
Bascillus pumilus	+	rod/0.6 X 2-3	83, 86
Streptococcus sobrinus	+	Spherical/ < 2	73
Bacillus subtilis	+	rod/0.7-0.8 X 2-3	77
Yeast, Fungi			
Saccharomyces cerevisiae		oval/3.5-7.0 X 3.5-9.0	1, 71
Candida albicans		oval/~7	76
Hyphomonas polymorpha		multiple shapes	68
Cancer Cells			
HeLa		14-16	63, 64, 100, 101, 102, 103, 108
T24		30	109, 110, 112
U937		14-20	113

Table IV. Organisms Tested with Titanium Dioxide Under Light Conditions					
Organism	Gram +/-	Shape/Size (µm)	Reference		
Mouse lymphoma L5178Y		11-12	169		
Viruses					
Phage Qβ		0.028	116		
Phage MS-2		0.024	74, 75		
Poliovirus 1		0.028	57		
Lactobacillus phage PL-1		0.05	115		
Other					
Human skin fibroblasts		16-18	121		
Alveolar macrophage		20-30	135		
Chinese hamster CHL/IU cells		14-16	169		

suspension is converted to an aerosol by use of an atomizer or nebulizer.<sup>54,55</sup> The nature of the salt content of the liquid medium influences the rate of disinfection in ways similar to effects on reactions of simple organic compounds in water. It has been found that in general salts inhibit reaction.<sup>6,11,60,61</sup> Phosphate exhibits the greatest effect and chloride the least. Phosphate has also been found to inhibit the adsorption of basic amino acids on  $TiO_2$ .<sup>62</sup> Carbonate and other species that can react with hydroxyl radical in competition with the target species also interfere and reduce the efficiency and observed rate of reaction.<sup>6,32</sup> Residual thiosulfate used to remove chlorine from a reactor being cleaned prior to use was found to inhibit the photocatalytic killing of *E. coli*.<sup>56</sup> The use of deionized water for the cell medium eliminates the interference of anions and organic compounds on the photocatalytic chemistry. However, prolonged suspension of

cells in deionized water can result in weakening of the cell walls due to loss of calcium and magnesium ions from the surface. The weakened cell wall is less able to resist the internal osmotic pressure that results from the solute concentration difference between the cell and the water. This can make the cell wall more permeable than normal or result in damage that weakens or kills the cells.

The choice of light source and reactor configuration has been highly variable. In general, experiments have shown that titanium dioxide suspended in water has no significant effect on survival of bacteria in the dark, and the effect of light plus titanium dioxide is greater than the effect of light alone. However, with some light sources there is significant reduction in colony forming units (cfus) with light alone. This is expected to occur particularly with lamps that have output below 300 nm and when the optical components of the reaction vessel will transmit the shorter wavelengths.<sup>58,63,64</sup> One study compared two lamps each with a photon flux at wavelengths below 380 nm of about 400 mE/hr. The lamp with about 41% of its output below 315 nm showed greater killing both with and without TiO<sub>2</sub> than the lamp with only 4% of its output in that range.<sup>59</sup> Another report found germicidal light more effective than black light.<sup>65</sup> Regardless of the type of light source used, the number of photons delivered (on the order of 10<sup>-3</sup> E/m<sup>2</sup>sec) is orders of magnitude greater than the number of cells in a typical experiment (in the range of 10<sup>3</sup> to 10<sup>9</sup>/ml). Experiments using light sources with fluxes in the range of about 100-

2000  $\mu$ E/m<sup>2</sup>s caused 100% deactivation of *E. coli* in times ranging from 7-120 min. A reactor of commercial design using four 40 W lamp reactors in series (unspecified spectral output) achieved 99.999% deactivation within 9 minutes.<sup>56</sup> Experiments with sunlight produced comparable results.<sup>66</sup>

Fluorescent black lights with an emission maximum at about 365 nm have been the most commonly used since there is a good match with the band gap of anatase. Medium pressure mercury arc and xenon arc lamps have also been used with a Pyrex<sup>™</sup> filter to eliminate the UV below about 290 nm. Some studies have been done using cool white fluorescent lamps, with a peak output at about 578 nm,<sup>67,68,69</sup> metal halide lamps,<sup>1</sup> and projector lamps.<sup>69</sup> The emission spectral properties of the lamps and photon fluxes at the reactor have not always been provided in the published reports which makes comparison of results difficult. It is not clear how much overlap there is in the action spectrum of titanium dioxide with the output of some of the lamps used, e.g. cool white fluorescent. Comparable killing of S. mutans was reported for two types of TiO<sub>2</sub> under UV and white light.<sup>70</sup> An early study compared the effect on *S. cerevisiae* of metal halide, xenon, and white fluorescent lamps with the same photon flux using platinized P25 TiO<sub>2</sub> as the photocatalyst. The surviving fractions were 27%, 46% and 58% respectively.<sup>1</sup> A series event model has been developed which features second order kinetics with respect to the concentrations of microbial cells and oxidative radicals to predict the survival of E. coli and Saccharomyces servisiae in aqueous slurry with irradiated titanium dioxide. The model was originally developed in the context of chlorine and chloramine disinfection of water in which the death of a cell was caused by a number of reactions, n, between oxidative species and the cell. The predictions of sterilization rate as a function of catalyst concentration and light intensity are fairly accurate, particularly given the use of a theoretical rather than empirical mathematical model.<sup>71</sup>

Sunlight has been demonstrated to have sufficient light in the near UV region (below 400nm) to activate  $TiO_2$ .<sup>10,72</sup> This has been exploited for disinfection applications. In solar experiments

where the temperature was not controlled, deactivation was the same with and without  $TiO_2$  due to the temperature rise.<sup>66,69</sup>

Some workers have reported that there is a modest decline in colony forming units when the cell suspension is added to titanium dioxide. This has been attributed to agglomerization of cells and TiO<sub>2</sub> particles and removal of cells by sedimentation. This effect was investigated in some detail for *S. sobrinus* where it was found that the size of aggregates depended on both the concentration of cfus and TiO<sub>2</sub> (P25). Aggregates larger than 1 mm were observed for TiO<sub>2</sub> loadings over 0.1 mg/mL and  $>10^8$  cfu/mL.<sup>73</sup> A similar effect was observed with a virus.<sup>74,75</sup>

Most investigations have used the anatase form of titanium dioxide as the photocatalyst, with Degussa P25 being the most commonly used. Rutile has also been reported to be active for the killing of *S. cricetus*, but not *S. rattus*, with a fluorescent lamp having a maximum output at 578 nm.<sup>76</sup> Platinum on rutile enhanced the killing of *E. coli* and *S. aureus*.<sup>77</sup> Ten percent platinum on TiO<sub>2</sub> (P25) enhanced the killing of *S. cerevisiae* from 80% to 100% in a reaction time of 120 min.<sup>1</sup> Silver on TiO<sub>2</sub> was found to be more effective than TiO<sub>2</sub> alone or TiO<sub>2</sub> with platinum for the killing of *E. coli*.<sup>78</sup>

The effect of TiO<sub>2</sub> particulate loading in suspensions has yielded mixed results. Destruction of *E. coli* and total coliforms reached a maximum at a TiO<sub>2</sub> concentration of 2 mg/mL then declined with further increased loading in an annular reactor.<sup>79</sup> An optimum loading of 1 mg/ml of P25 was reported for deactivation of *E. coli* in presterilized surface water using a black light in a stirred reactor.<sup>80,81</sup> In a reactor with conventional optical fibers as the light source and emitting only at the tips, maximum killing of *E. coli* was observed at 0.0025 mg/ml and the rate declined rapidly up to 0.25 mg/mL. The effect was attributed to shading by the suspended solids. For fibers modified to emit axially from the body as well as the tips, the maximum killing did not decrease significantly between 0.0025 and 0.25 mg/mL. This was attributed to better distribution of the photons through the volume of the reaction mixture.<sup>82</sup> In another study, killing of *E. coli* declined significantly up to about 0.2 mg/mL and continued to decline, but less rapidly, up to about 1 mg/mL.<sup>69</sup> For *S. marsescans* the optimum loading was found to be 0.1 mg/mL. For coliforms using a SR-2 lamp, the maximum killing was predominantly due to the short wavelengths).<sup>58</sup> For *B*.

*pomilus* spores an optimum loading of  $TiO_2$  was found to be about 2 mg/mL.<sup>83</sup> For *P. stutzeri* the greatest decrease in viable cell count was obtained using 4 mg/ml of  $TiO_2$  (Tioxide NP92).<sup>84</sup>

The dependence of the rate of cell killing as a function of initial concentration has been variable in the studies reported to date. The reaction rates have often been fit with first order kinetics. This was the case for total coliforms.<sup>57,79</sup> In the range up to about  $10^3$  cfu/mL, the rate is usually independent of initial cell concentration.<sup>79</sup> As cell count increased from  $10^2$  to  $10^5$  cfu/mL percent survival went from zero to 84%.<sup>85</sup> For *B. pumilus* spores cell killing increased for initial cell concentrations between  $10^4$  and  $10^9$  cfu/mL then declined for  $10^{10}$  cfu/mL.<sup>83,86</sup> It is not known whether there is a connection between the decreased efficiency at high cell counts and the observation that at high cell loadings co-agglomerization with TiO<sub>2</sub> can occur.

Alternating 15 min periods of light and dark was reported to enhance the killing of *B. pumilus* spores.<sup>83</sup> The combination of light and ultrasound was found to enhance the rate of killing *E. coli* with suspended TiO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>68</sup> The removal of *E. coli* and *C. perfringens* spores was significantly enhanced when a positive voltage bias was applied to an irradiated TiO<sub>2</sub> coated electrode.<sup>87</sup> *E. coli* were deactivated on films of TiO<sub>2</sub> coated on tiles.<sup>88</sup> A novel reactor based on a **A**water bell<sup>@</sup> has been modelled. It has the potential to give efficient use of light and avoids contact of the light source and water.<sup>89</sup> With TiO<sub>2</sub> immobilized in acetyl cellulose >99% deactivation was maintained with water containing  $10^2$  cfu/ml flowing for one week at residence time of 16 min.<sup>85</sup>

Evidence for the mineralization of *E*. *coli* cells on a photocatalytic surface exposed to air and light has been recently reported.<sup>90</sup>

Killing of total coliforms in diluted secondary waste effluent containing 50-80 cfu/mL was found to be enhanced by a small amount with added  $TiO_2$  when a commercial reactor with low pressure mercury arc lamps was used.<sup>58</sup> For coliform counts of  $5X10^7$  cfu/mL, 150 min was required to achieve 99% deactivation with a 40 W black light.<sup>57</sup> Total coliforms in pond water samples were reduced by >99% while the heterotrophic plate count only decreased by about 10%.<sup>56</sup> The use of a black light reduced the number of coliforms and bacteria was reduced from 35,000 to 59 per

100ml in 60 min.<sup>79</sup>

The susceptibility of four kinds of organisms to killing by the photocatalytic effect was compared using platinized P25 TiO<sub>2</sub> and a metal halide lamp. *L. Acidophilus* (Gram +), *E. coli* (Gram -), *S. Cerevisiae* (yeast), and *Cl. vulgaris* (algae) were deactivated to the extent of 100%, 20%, 54%, and 45%. The first three were accomplished in 60 min and the last required 120 min. This correlates roughly with the thickness of the cell wall.<sup>1</sup>

## **Dental Applications**

The mouth is home to a large and very diverse population of microbes comprising over 350 taxa, including at least 37 genera of bacteria.<sup>91</sup> Cell to cell co-aggregation has been confirmed with isolates from 18 genera, constituting those bacteria most commonly identified in dental plaque. Essentially all oral bacteria possess surface molecules that show some sort of cell-to-cell interaction. The earliest colonizers are overwhelmingly streptococci, which constitute 47 to 85% of the culturable cells found during the first 4 h after professional cleaning of teeth.<sup>92</sup> Within 12 h the population diversifies to include actinomyces, capnocytophagae, haemophili, provotellae, propionibacteria, and veillonellae. Some cariogenic mutant streptococci synthesize extracellular glucans and a surface protein that contribute to their ability to adhere to teeth.<sup>93</sup> Generally, the ability to attach to bacteria already anchored to hard or soft tissue may provide secondary colonizers. The oral bacterial adherence poses a great challenge for dental hygiene. A number of studies have been done on the effect of photocatalytic treatment on bacteria found in the mouth. These include S. sobrinus, S. mutans, S. rattus, S. cricetus, C. albicans, and A. viscosus. 67,70,73,76,94 Titanium dioxide added to pit and fissure sealants was found to inhibit adherence by S. mutans when irradiated with a fluorescent lamp (peak output at 578 nm) in saline solution.<sup>67</sup> Titanium metal was found to be one of the most active of the dental implant metals in *in vivo* antibacterial

tests on *P. endodontalis*, *P. gingivalis*, *P. intermedia*, *P. melaniogenica*, *A. actinomycetemcomitans*, *A. naeslundii*, and *A. viscosus*.<sup>95</sup>

After a few weeks a broad spectrum of microbes can be found on a new toothbrush.<sup>96</sup> In a recent pilot study using a range of selective growth media, the total microbial load per toothbrush was found to be 10<sup>4</sup> to 10<sup>6</sup> cfu. *Staphylococci* and *streptococci* were dominant. *Candida*, *corynebacteria*, *pseudomonas*, and coliforms were also identified.<sup>97</sup> Light activated tooth brushes based on photocatalytic process have been tested and found to control dental plaque.<sup>98,99</sup>

### **Tumor Cells**

HeLa cells (cervical carcinoma) were killed by exposure to light from an unfiltered 500 W mercury arc lamp in the presence of TiO<sub>2</sub> (P25). Cells were cultured in Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) in the presence of  $TiO_2$  for 24 hrs, then exposed to light from a high pressure mercury lamp. HeLa cells were killed even after the external TiO<sub>2</sub> was removed by washing, indicating that TiO<sub>2</sub> particles had adsorbed onto the cell surface or that they were ingested by the cells. The rate of cell killing is increased with greater levels of TiO<sub>2</sub> loading, in the range 0-120  $\mu$ g/mL.<sup>100</sup> To test the effect of SOD, HeLa cells were cultured as above, and during the final three hours, cells were washed and phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing SOD was added. Irradiation with a 500 W high pressure mercury lamp filtered to transmit 300-400 nm light resulted in increased killing compared to the case without SOD. The increased killing was postulated to result from hydrogen peroxide formed from superoxide produced at the catalyst surface. An approximate ten-fold increase in hydrogen peroxide concentration was found in the presence of SOD. When catalase was added, the effect of SOD was suppressed. This can be explained by the catalytic decomposition of hydrogen peroxide by catalase.<sup>101</sup> The cell killing effect was more pronounced in the PBS medium than in MEM, possibly due to an internal filter effect or the scavenging of hydroxyl radicals by some of the components of the solution. The hydroxyl radical scavengers mannitol and L-tryptophan reduced cell killing.<sup>100</sup> TEM showed that TiO<sub>2</sub> particles had adsorbed both on the surface of the cells and had been absorbed into the cells. Tumors caused by transplanting HeLa cells into nude mice were suppressed by irradiation with 300-400 nm light in the presence of TiO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>62,63,64, 102,103</sup> This work has been discussed in reviews of applications of photocatalytic chemistry.<sup>104,105,106,107</sup> A method for treatment of tumors based on this approach has been proposed.<sup>108</sup>

The effect of TiO<sub>2</sub> and light on calcium ion uptake from buffer solution by irradiated T-24 cells (bladder transitional cell carcinoma) was monitored. Cells cultured in Ham=s F12 medium were exposed to an F12 solution of TiO<sub>2</sub> (P25) for 24 hrs. This resulted in incorporation of TiO<sub>2</sub> particles into the cytoplasm. The cells were exposed to 340 and 380 nm light from a 150 W xenon lamp. Calcium concentration in the cells was monitored by microfluorometry. It was proposed that cell damage occurred in three stages: 1) some cell damage occurs, the membrane becomes somewhat permeable, and calcium concentration in the cell increases, 2) a steady state is reached but cells are still viable, and 3) the cell membrane becomes permeable, calcium concentration increases further, and the cell functions are damaged to the point that the cells die. The time course of the diffusion of calcium into the cell was followed. The observed effects were faster when cells were exposed to 100 µg/ml TiO<sub>2</sub> than for 10 µg/ml.<sup>109,110</sup>

A similar effect of  $TiO_2$  loading on the rate of killing T-24 cells was reported as part of a comparison of cell killing in cultures, tumors, and using a photo-excited titanium dioxide electrode. Tumor growth following the transplanting of T-24 cells into nude mice was delayed up to 30 days using treatment with  $TiO_2$  particles and light. Growth of cultures on thin film titanium dioxide electrodes allowed determination of cell killing as a function of applied potential during irradiation. Increasing cell death occurred as the potential was raised from 0 to +1.0 V.<sup>111</sup>

A TiO<sub>2</sub> microelectrode was used to inactivate a single T-24 cell under UV illumination when the electrode and cell were in contact. The cell was not killed when the electrode was 10  $\mu$ m from the cell surface. Cells were killed when the potential was more positive than 0.0 V vs SCE. Cells not in direct contact with the electrode were not affected. These results support the involvement of reactive oxygen species such as hydroxyl radicals that have short lifetimes, hence short diffusion distances.<sup>112</sup>

In a more recent study, human U937 monocytic leukemia cells were treated with 1 mg/ml colloidal  $TiO_2$  (10 nm) in RPMI 1640 medium for 2 h at 37 °C followed by irradiation with UV light (300-400 nm). About 80% of cells were killed after 10 min of illumination and complete

killing was obtained after 30 min.  $TiO_2$  treated cells showed the evidence of membrane blebbing and DNA fragmentation, especially the formation of DNA ladder. All of these effects are characteristics of apoptosis. Apoptosis, also known as programmed cell death, is a different mechanism of cell death from necrosis. ROS such as HO<sup>•</sup>, HO<sup>•</sup><sub>2</sub> and H<sup>2</sup>O<sup>2</sup> are proposed to be responsible for apoptosis.<sup>113</sup> It has been suggested that TiO<sup>2</sup> and other mineral particles can induce alteration in protein glycosylation in differentiated U937 cells.<sup>114</sup>

# Viruses

Polio virus 1 was 99.9% killed in secondary waste effluent after 30 min of irradiation with a 40 W black light.<sup>57</sup> Phage MS2 was 90 % destroyed in phosphate buffer with TiO<sub>2</sub> (P25) and a 15 W black light. The killing increased to 99.9% when ferrous sulfate was added. This suggested that Fenton chemistry might augment the photocatalytic effect.<sup>74,75</sup> *Lactobacillus* phage PL-1 was deactivated at a slightly greater rate than in the dark when illuminated with a Toshiba FLR-40S 36 W lamp in the presence of Cleansand-205. The Cleansand-205 is a formulation prepared by coating silica sand with a mixture of SiO<sub>2</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, TiO<sub>2</sub>, and silver in the ratio of 77.1:22.9:3.3:1.7(by weight).<sup>115</sup> Phage Q $\beta$  was deactivated on TiO<sub>2</sub> coated tiles using a black light source. Experiments in an aqueous slurry reactor showed a linear dependence on light intensity in the range 3 to 8X10<sup>-3</sup> W/cm<sup>2</sup>. When a germicidal light was used, no difference was found with or without TiO<sub>2</sub> coating on tiles.<sup>116</sup>

# Photocatalytic Damage to Cellular Molecules

Photocatalytic oxidation of a very wide range of organic compounds has been observed. Therefore, it is not surprising that cellular molecules, such as carbohydrates, lipids, proteins and nucleic acids can be damaged and subsequently lead to cell death. TiO<sub>2</sub> has shown a pronounced activity in the adsorption of basic L-amino acids such as L-lysine and L-arginine in an aqueous solution.<sup>62</sup> TiO<sub>2</sub> is also capable of absorbing and inactivating various bacteriocin from culture supernatant.<sup>117</sup> It has been demonstrated that the nitrogen moiety in various amino acids are converted predominantly into NH<sub>3</sub> upon exposure to 2 mg/ml TiO<sub>2</sub> (P25) illuminated with a 75 W Hg-lamp.<sup>118</sup> TiO<sub>2</sub> photodegradation of DNA and RNA bases was also confirmed by formation of nitrate, carbon dioxide, and ammonia.<sup>118</sup> Synthetic supercoiled plasmid DNA has been used to demonstrate free radical activity at TiO<sub>2</sub> surfaces. Both ultrafine and normal size TiO<sub>2</sub> particles can cause plasmid DNA breakage at the concentrations range 0.05 - 0.15 mg/mL after incubation for 8 h at 37 °C. Other environmental particles (PM-10) and amphibole asbestos were also found to be highly reactive for formation of free radicals. It was not specified whether the evaluations were done with the exclusion of ambient light.<sup>119</sup> Such DNA damage is more effective with UV illumination. Direct DNA strand break was seen with 0.0125% of TiO<sub>2</sub> after illuminating with simulated sunlight for 10 min. The same experiment has shown that anatase is more active than rutile.<sup>120</sup> Evidently, DNA and RNA damage caused by TiO<sub>2</sub> oxidation is not confined to strand breakage. Hydroxylation of guanine has been demonstrated in calf thymus DNA. The formation of 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxodG) in DNA is proportional to increases in both the light intensity and TiO<sub>2</sub> concentration.<sup>121</sup> DNA in normal human cells and cancer cells can also be damaged by illuminated TiO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>113,120,121</sup> These findings are consistent with the endocytosis of TiO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>102</sup> Cellular RNA has been found to be more susceptible to oxidative damage induced by TiO<sub>2</sub> than DNA. One possible explanation is the compartmentalization of DNA within the cell nucleus.<sup>121</sup> Evidence for the adsorption and subsequent uptake of TiO<sub>2</sub> particles by cells was reported for lung macrophages.<sup>122</sup>

## **Toxicity Studies of TiO<sub>2</sub> Particles**

Titanium dioxide has generally been regarded as a nuisance dust in man.<sup>123,124</sup> The first epidemiologic survey of respiratory disease among 209 titanium metal production workers showed that 17% of the subjects had signs of pleural disease which suggests that reductions in ventilation capacity may be associated with the exposure to titanium tetrachloride and titanium dioxide.<sup>125</sup> However, the epidemiologic study of 1576 workers exposed to TiO<sub>2</sub> particles shows no statistically significant association between TiO<sub>2</sub> exposure and risk of lung cancer and chronic respiratory diseases. No cases of pulmonary fibrosis has been found among TiO<sub>2</sub> exposed workers.<sup>126</sup> The same conclusion was reached in another epidemiologic study of 2477 employees from TiO<sub>2</sub> plants that showed no statistically significant association between titanium another epidemiologic study of 2477 employees

exposure and risk of lung cancer and chronic respiratory diseases.<sup>127</sup> However, some pathologic changes such as pulmonary fibrosis and skin necrosis may be associated with direct exposure to large quantities of  $TiO_2$  particles.<sup>128</sup> It is not clear whether the effect of ultraviolet or visible light is involved in these cases.

Mice receiving a saline suspension of 25 mg TiO<sub>2</sub> intraperitoneally showed no foreign-body reaction or tumorigenesis.<sup>129</sup> Those receiving three daily injections show a weak positive on bone marrow micronocleus assay.<sup>130</sup> A feeding study has shown that TiO<sub>2</sub> coated mica produced neither toxicological nor carcinogenic effect in rats at dietary concentrations as high as 5.0% for 130-week.<sup>131</sup> It has also been reported that in macrophage cells at the base of the human gut, associated lymphoid tissue, become loaded early in life with dark granular pigment that is rich in titanium and other mineral particles. These cellular pigments that are partially derived from food additives and partially from the environment, can cause chronic latent granulomatous inflammation.<sup>132</sup>

Studies on transmigration of TiO<sub>2</sub> particles in rats after inhalation have shown that free TiO<sub>2</sub> particles can be retained in the nasal and tracheobronchial epithelium without cellular damage.<sup>133</sup> The uptake of TiO<sub>2</sub> particles by pulmonary epithelial cells is affected by particle size: ultra fine TiO<sub>2</sub> (~20 nm) appear to enter the epithelial cells faster than fine TiO<sub>2</sub> particles (~120 nm).<sup>134</sup> The aggregation of dust-laden macro phages (dust cells) have been found in the lymphoid tissue of the submucosa. Inhaled particles are mostly engulfed by alveolar macro phages and confined to the alveolar duct region.<sup>133</sup> Such phagocytosis phenomena have been demonstrated *in vitro* by flow cytometric assay.<sup>135</sup> Intratracheal instillation of TiO<sub>2</sub> particles (50 mg/kg) in rats can stimulate the release of pulmonary damage factors, e.g., macrophage fibronectin.<sup>136</sup> However, this phenomenon was not seen in inhalation experiments.<sup>137</sup> A fraction of the inhaled particles has also been found in the membranous pneumocytes and interstitial lymphoid. Dust cells in the hyperplastic peribronchial lymphoid tissue are usually eliminated via airways. Transfer to lymph nodes accounts for most of the postexposure clearance for TiO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>138</sup> At low concentration (0-50 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) no significant pulmonary response has been detected.<sup>132,139</sup> However, inhalation of high concentrations of TiO<sub>2</sub> particles in rats results in impaired pulmonary clearance and persistent

inflammation. A decreased pulmonary response has been observed in rats exposed to TiO<sub>2</sub> (125 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) for 2 h.<sup>140</sup> High dose exposure to TiO<sub>2</sub> (250 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) 6 h/day, 5 day/week for 4 weeks can produce sustained pulmonary inflammation, enhanced proliferation of pulmonary cells, impairment of particle clearance, deficits in macrophage function, and the appearance of macrophage aggregates at sites of particle deposition..<sup>141</sup> Significantly prolonged long-term lung clearance also has been observed in both ultrafine TiO<sub>2</sub> particles and pigmentary TiO<sub>2</sub> particles (250 nm).<sup>142</sup> Free radicals such as hydroxyl radical may be involved in the interactions of TiO<sub>2</sub> particles with pulmonary cells.<sup>143</sup> A few unique types of experimentally induced lung tumors have been observed under exaggerated exposure conditions or long term overload, <sup>144,145,146</sup> but because they are rarely seen in humans, their relevance to humans is questionable. Although initially an irritant, TiO<sub>2</sub>-induced pulmonary lesions regressed during a one year period following cessation of exposure.<sup>147</sup> A chronic TiO2 inhalation study of hamsters exposed to 30-40 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for 6 h/day, five days/week, for 18 months has shown chronic inflammatory response.<sup>148</sup> Lung response at 10 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for 6 h/day, 5 days/week for 2 years satisfies the biological criteria for a nuisance dust.<sup>145</sup>

Study on the lungs of mice intratracheally injected with TiO<sub>2</sub> showed no effect on the incidence of lung tumors.<sup>149</sup> However, connective-tissue breakdown has been demonstrated in the rat lung after a single intratracheal instillation of 30 mg rutile TiO<sub>2</sub>, indicating that this process probably plays a role in dust-induced emphysema.<sup>150</sup> A similar experiment carried out in dogs suggests that mild lung fibrosis can be induced with large amounts of TiO<sub>2</sub> particles deposited in the lung tissue.<sup>151</sup> Such pathologic change has also been found in a 43-year old male who has been engaged in packing TiO<sub>2</sub> for about 13 years.<sup>152</sup> Formation of DNA adducts following chronic inhalation of TiO<sub>2</sub> particles was not detected in rat lung. Intratracheal instillation of TiO<sub>2</sub> at the range 5 to 100 mg/kg in rats also caused mild increases in the recruitment of inflammatory cells, such as neutrophils, lymphocytes, and alveolar macrophages.<sup>153</sup> Some TiO<sub>2</sub>-laden dust cells may enter the peribronchial lymphaticus or pulmonary blood vessels and subsequently migrate into the general circulation.<sup>133</sup> An *in vitro* test has shown that TiO<sub>2</sub> particles can cause the lipid peroxidation of erythrocytes and subsequent haemolytic reaction.<sup>154</sup> Since there were no tissue responses to translocated particles in the lymph nodes, spleen, or liver, potential adverse health effects therefore appear to be negligible. In a rat liver epithelial cell assay, neither ultra fine TiO<sub>2</sub>

particles nor pigmentary  $TiO_2$  particles have direct clastogenic potential.<sup>155</sup> The genotoxicity of  $TiO_2$  remains to be controversial. The micronucleus test *in vitro* using Chinese hamster ovary cells shows that  $TiO_2$  did not induce micronuclei due to poor solubility in the culture medium.<sup>156</sup> However, it has also been demonstrated that  $TiO_2$  can be transported into hamster ovary cells and exhibit potential genotoxicity.<sup>157</sup>

TiO<sub>2</sub> has been noted to be a safe physical sunscreen. Animal tests have shown that micro fine TiO<sub>2</sub> completely protects mice from UV-induced carcinogenesis<sup>158</sup> and protects the skin's immune system.<sup>159</sup> Such protections are significantly affected by the application thickness.<sup>160</sup> TiO<sub>2</sub> also shows a satisfactory protective capacity in those photodermatoses.<sup>161</sup> Recently, the percutaneous absorption of titanium in the epidermis and dermis were observed in subjects applying micro fine TiO<sub>2</sub> sunscreens daily for 2-4 weeks.<sup>162</sup> The distribution of TiO<sub>2</sub> within the different layers of human skin has been demonstrated using a pulsed form of the photoacoustic technique.<sup>163</sup> It has been shown that sunlight-illuminated TiO<sub>2</sub> can cause DNA damage.<sup>120</sup> These results may be relevant to the overall effect of TiO<sub>2</sub> in sunscreen and cosmetic products.

Generally,  $TiO_2$  is considered to be a non-pathogenic, inert mineral particle.<sup>139,149,164,165,166,167</sup> Usually, in the absence of UV light neither anatase nor rutile exhibit much biological activity.<sup>168</sup> Pathogenic effects of TiO<sub>2</sub> particles are usually due to the general physical stimulation activity. However, with UV light irradiation TiO<sub>2</sub> particles exhibit significant cytotoxicity and potential photogenotoxicity.<sup>169</sup>

### **Mechanism of Cell Killing**

There are numerous papers dealing with the bactericidal effect of  $TiO_2$  photocatalysts over a wide range of microorganisms, however, only a few publications have investigated the various modes of action  $TiO_2$  exerted on cells which lead to cell death. A fundamental understanding of the underlying principles of the cell killing mechanism is critical in divising feasible disinfection and medical treatment systems.

There are several possible mechanisms for cell killing by the photocatalytic process. The earliest that was proposed was that of Matsunaga, who presented evidence for the oxidation of coenzyme A (CoA) in *S. cereviaiae*, a yeast, when exposed to light and platinized TiO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>1</sup> Upon illumination of the cells in the presence of TiO<sub>2</sub>/Pt for 120 minutes under a metal halide lamp, more than 97% of the intracellular CoA content was lost as compared to a 42% loss when TiO<sub>2</sub> was omitted. Under the same conditions, the respiratory activity was also decreased to 42% of those of the untreated cells. The authors attributed the loss of intracellular CoA level to be the root cause for the decrease in respiratory activities which ultimately led to cell death. An earlier attempt to identify the oxidized product as dimeric CoA was inconclusive since both the dimer and the cell lysate had similar Rf value by thin-layer chromatography on silica gel. Later, when pure CoA was incubated with TiO<sub>2</sub> under light, a stoichiometric increase in dimeric CoA was observed, presumably a sulfur-bridged dimer, with the concomitant loss of CoA (Matsunaga et al., 1988, #770). Serving as a carrier for the acyl groups, CoA participates in many enzymatic reactions involved in the respiratory chain and fatty acid oxidations.<sup>170</sup> The terminal sulfhydryl group of CoA is the reactive site of this molecule for the acyl transfer reactions, therefore, its photooxidation reaction would be detrimental to cell viability.

The actions of the highly oxidized species generated on the surface of the illuminated  $TiO_2$  are generally regarded as non-selective, therefore, it is reasonable to expect that the cell membrane would have to be oxidized first, losing its semipermeability before the intracellular CoA is photooxidized. Yet, on the basis of either light or electron microscopy, Matsunaga and his coworkers failed to detect any destruction of the cell wall by photo-activated semiconductor powders.<sup>1</sup> When *S. cerevisiae* cells were physically separated from the  $TiO_2/Pt$  particles by a dialysis membrane to prevent any direct contact, no loss of either respiratory activity or cell viability was observed. The authors concluded that a direct contact between cells and the semiconductor is a prerequisite for cell killing. Together with the fact that the addition of catalase failed to reduce the killing effect, the authors concluded that oxidative species such as  $H_2O_2$  and free radicals formed during the photocatalytic process were not responsible for the bactericidal effect.

Other workers have found evidence for disruption of the cell wall, cell membrane and leakage of the cell contents.<sup>73</sup> Working with *Streptococcus sobrinus* AHT, Saito and his coworkers discovered a rapid leakage of potassium ions within 3 min upon illumination with TiO<sub>2</sub>, and its leakage kinetics coincided with cell death. When high concentrations of K<sup>+</sup> were added back after the reaction, the loss of viability was not reversed. Thus, the loss of  $K^+$  itself is not the direct cause of cell death. Using K<sup>+</sup> leakage merely as a gauge for measuring changes in membrane intactness, the authors concluded that photo-excited TiO<sub>2</sub> had caused a significant disruption of the cell membrane leading to the compromise of its semipermeability, and subsequent cell death. With illumination up to 120 min the much larger molecules such as proteins and RNA were slowly released into the extracellular fractions indicating that major membrane damage had occured. Electron micrographs indicated that many cells were broken open at this stage. The authors detected a drop in the medium pH at this time, probably due to the leakage of the many acidic cellular components and the mineralization of some of them into CO<sub>2</sub>. Electron micrographs also indicated that TiO<sub>2</sub> particles did not reach the cell membrane surface until after 30 min of reaction with the peptidoglycan layer, yet death occurred within 1 to 3 min. They proposed that perhaps the ROS were produced under the photocatalytic conditions and these species were able to reach the cell membrane and disrupt its structure directly.

Further evidence of cell membrane disruption by irradiated TiO<sub>2</sub> came from the work of Sakai and coauthors who incubated human malignant cell, T-24,<sup>109,110</sup> with a TiO<sub>2</sub>-F12 solution ([TiO<sub>2</sub>] = 100 or 10  $\mu$ g/mL) for 24 hours in the dark. On the basis of the electron micrograph, Sakai and his coworkers found that the TiO<sub>2</sub> particles were distributed not only at the outer surface of the cell membrane, but also in the cytoplasm, probably through the process of phagocytosis, or "cell eating." Phagocytosis is a defense mechanism in which the eucaryotic cell engulfs foreign material holding it in its interior for later digestion.<sup>48</sup> Even with the TiO<sub>2</sub> being incorporated intracellularly, more than 90% of the cells were still viable at this stage. With the onset of light these cells exhibited two-stage Ca<sup>++</sup> leakage kinetics over 10 min duration of the photocatalytic reaction. After the first 4 min of near UV illumination, a rapid increase of intracellular Ca<sup>++</sup> level then reached a steady state briefly, followed by a second-stage rapid increase where the viability decreased

drastically. The authors attributed the initial elevation as an influx of  $Ca^{++}$  through the membrane from outside, indicating that minor cell membrane leakage had occurred. They proposed that the more deadly second-stage leakage was due to the release of  $Ca^{++}$  from the internal  $Ca^{++}$  stores, such as calcium-binding proteins or organelles as in the endoplasmic reticulum.<sup>171</sup> At this stage, major rupture of the cell membrane and decomposition of essential intracellular components such as organelles had taken place, making cell death unavoidable. The authors attributed the leading cause of cell death to attack of the unsaturated lipid membrane by reactive oxygen species such as hydroxyl radicals, superoxide ions or hydrogen peroxide generated from the photo-excited TiO<sub>2</sub> particles.

Direct evidence of membrane damage comes from the work of Sunada and coworkers using a transparent thin film of TiO<sub>2</sub> to measure the destruction of endotoxin from *E. coli*.<sup>172</sup> The endotoxin is a lipopolysaccharide macromolecule which resides on the outer membrane of Gramnegative bacteria, including *E. coli*.<sup>173</sup> Its toxicity resides mainly on the lipid fraction, i.e., lipid A, while the sugar moiety acts as the antigenic determinant. The endotoxin is an integral part of the bacterial cell envelope and is released only when the intact cellular structure is destroyed. Therefore, the release of endotoxin into the medium is a good indicator for outer membrane destruction. Their results support the concept that TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalytic reaction causes the destruction of the outer membrane of the *E. coli* cells, as well as the degradation of toxic compounds subsequently released from the dead cells. By serving both as an antibacterial and a detoxifying agent, the authors concluded that TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalyst is unique in its environmental applications. Mineralization of whole *E. coli* cells has also been demonstrated recently by Jacoby and co-workers.<sup>90</sup>

To selectively investigate the effect of various reactive oxygen species responsible for the bactericidal effect, Kikuchi and his group incorporated a porous PTFE membrane in their system to physically separate the *E. coli* suspension from the  $TiO_2$  thin.<sup>174</sup> This membrane-separated setup presumed that the less mobile radical species would be unable to traverse the 50 µm distance from the  $TiO_2$  surface to the bacterial suspension while the longer-lived solution phase species would be able topass through. The membrane's pore size of 0.4 µm would also prevent

any *E. coli* from migrating to the TiO<sub>2</sub> surface. Excellent photo killing was achieved in their system with and without the PTFE membrane. In both cases, the addition of catalase quenched the killing significantly. The contribution of hydrogen peroxide was obvious as the authors had detected its presence across the membrane. Yet when mannitol was included as a hydroxyl radical scavenger, killing was suppressed only in the absence of the PTFE membrane. Based on these results, the authors conceived that hydrogen peroxide rather than the hydroxyl radicals plays the major role in the long-range bactericidal effect. Paradoxically, they report that the level of  $H_2O_2$  detected during the experiments was below that usually required to kill bacteria.

Aside from the destruction of cell structure, another possible cause of cell death by illuminated TiO<sub>2</sub> particles could be their detrimental effects on DNA and RNA. Photocatalytic oxidation of a wide range of organic compounds has been observed. Therefore it is therefore not surprising that DNA and RNA can be damaged.<sup>118,120,121</sup> *In vitro* studies using supercoiled plasmid DNA with TiO<sub>2</sub> and near UV illumination by Dunford and coworkers demonstrated that the plasmid DNA was converted first to the relaxed form and later to the linear form, indicating strand breakage.<sup>120</sup> DNA strand breakage is a lethal event. Neither the addition of catalase nor SOD alleviated the strand breakage. When either dimethyl sulfoxide or mannitol were included in the reaction mixture (both which are known to be hydroxyl radical scavengers) the extent of damage to DNA was significantly reduced. Based on these findings the authors were convinced the hydroxyl radical was responsible for the damage and not the more easily diffusible species such as superoxide or hydrogen peroxide. Further analysis of the damaged DNA revealed that the guanine bases of those molecules had been altered.

By irradiating calf thymus DNA containing TiO<sub>2</sub> with UVA light, Wamer and his group detected the hydroxylation of guanine bases.<sup>121</sup> The degree of hydroxylation correlated positively to the amount of TiO<sub>2</sub> used and the intensity of the incident light. Various investigators routinely used the formation of hydroxylation end products of guanine residues from both DNA and RNA as a sensitive probe to determine the extent of oxidative stress.<sup>175</sup> Using human skin fibroblast cells for the *in vivo* studies under the same experimental conditions, Wamer and his coworkers discovered a significant level of hydroxylation of cellular RNA, as had been expected, but no hydroxylation of

cellular DNA was detected.<sup>121</sup> Treatment with TiO<sub>2</sub> and UV-A light resulted in 85% cytotoxicity to the human skin fibroblast cells. The authors offered several explanations to the higher oxidative damage to RNA as opposed to DNA: 1) cells possess various repair pathways for DNA molecules, yet no comparable repair mechanisms are known to exist for RNA molecules,<sup>176</sup> and 2) cellular RNA is distributed in the cytoplasm while the DNA in eucaryotic cells is compartmentalized in the nucleus and not readily accessible to either TiO<sub>2</sub> particles, nor to the short-lived ROS. It is important note, as discussed previously, that procaryotic cells tructure is not as compartmentalized as are eucaryotic cells. The DNA molecules in procaryotic cells is attached directly onto the cell membrane and is in theory more susceptible to oxidative damage than in the more highly evolved eucaryotic cells.

Hidaka and coworkers provided more direct measurements regarding the fate of DNA and RNA molecules undergoing TiO<sub>2</sub> photochemical damage.<sup>118</sup> By exposing either purine or pyrimidine bases to TiO<sub>2</sub> and light from a 100W Hg lamp, they detected the formation of  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$  ion species. When native DNA and RNA molecules were subject to the same conditions the authors also detected the transient formation of unidentified peroxide species along with phosphate and carbon dioxide. Release of phosphate suggests the breakdown of the sugar-phosphate backbone of the DNA and RNA molecules, whereas the presence of  $CO_2$  indicates that some mineralization has been realized. Indeed, the authors provided convincing evidence of mineralization reaction as illustrated by the scanning electron micrographs of the DNA strand, clearly demonstrating DNA decomposition within one to three hours following exposure to TiO<sub>2</sub> and light.

In summary, there is conflicting evidence in the literature as to which reactive oxygen species are directly involved in the photo killing process. One school of thought is that hydrogen peroxide maybe more involved than can be accounted for by its oxidative capability, perhaps due to the generation of hydroxyl radicals by means of the Fenton reaction. This may be a possibility since biological systems normally contain Fe<sup>++</sup>, and cells generally have an abundance of low redox reducing equivalents. In addition, hydrogen peroxide and superoxide in the presence of catalytic amounts of ferric ion can participate in the iron-catalyzed Haber-Weiss reaction to yield more hydroxyl radicals. More work is needed to clarify which specie or species contributes to the

photocatalytic activity.

Regardless of the oxidative species involved, there is substantial evidence that cell membrane damage is the direct result of oxidative damage. The cell membrane contains unsaturated phospholipid and, therefore, is the potential target leading to lipid peroxidation. The detrimental impact of lipid peroxidation to all forms of life has been well documented in the literature.<sup>39</sup> Once the cell membrane barrier is compromised or upon entry into the cell via phagocytosis, TiO<sub>2</sub> particles can exert oxidative actions directly on all the essential components in the cytoplasm.

### Patents

The patent literature is rarely included in review articles, however, the background and claims in a patent can be a rich source of ideas and show the direction in innovation and thinking about applications of a technology. The patents in the photocatalytic field in general and those related to cell killing are heavily weighted toward applicatons with large potential markets. Methods of immobilizing photocatalysts for applications in both water and air applications are of particular interest. Sterilizing and self-cleaning surfaces appear to be an area of growing activity. Table VI provides titles and references to the world patent literature related to photocatalytic disinfection and hints at the diverse applications that are being considered. Japanese companies and research organizations are responsible for most of the patent activity in this subset of photocatalytic applications as they are in the entire field.

### Summary

The work done to date on photocatalytic disinfection using irradiated titanium dioxide has established that the method is effective for killing a wide range of organisms and cell types. The process is applicable to aqueous and air phases and can be used in vivo. The broad picture of the mechanism(s) by which cells can be damaged has been revealed. The effects that have been observed are consistent with reactive oxygen species such as those normally associated with irradiated  $TiO_2$ . These may attack from the outside of cells or be generated on the inside of a cell if TiO<sub>2</sub> particles are absorbed by the cell. A universal set of optimum conditions for aqueous phase disinfection does not exist. At present one can only conclude that the treatment conditions are highly dependent on reactor configuration, light source, type of TiO<sub>2</sub>, components of the medium used, and organism. It is important that workers in the field continue to strive for clearly defined conditions for experiments so that comparisons can be made between organisms. The effectiveness of some light sources that are not rated to have output within the band gap of anatase or rutile phases suggests that cell killing might be effective at very low doses of UV light such as might Aleak@from an ordinary fluorescent lamp. Thus far it appears that the further one moves away from controlled laboratory media, the more challenging it becomes to kill microorganisms. In the wild, organisms equip themselves with defenses that are more difficult to overcome. Inherent to the photocatalytic method are multiple modes of action which can operate simultaneously--adsorption/trapping, reactive oxygen species, and direct and indirect photochemistry. Control of bioaerosols by a photocatalytic process is only beginning to be studied. The potential for water and air disinfection, self-cleaning surfaces, and dental and medical applications has been established. It remains to be seen if the efficiency and selectivity required by potential applications can be achieved.

Acknowledgement: We thank the Center for Indoor Air Research, the National Renewable Energy Laboratory FIRST Program, the U. S. Department of Energy Building Energy Technology and Environmental Management Science Programs, and the Department of Energy Vehicle Auxiliary Loads Reduction Project for support during the preparation of this review. The authors thank Ms. Maura Jacoby for editorial review and comments on the final draft.

TABLE VI. Patents containing claims or information related to photocatalytic disinfection or cell killing				
Patent title	Chemical Abstracts Reference (volume:abstract number)	Reference number		
Filters bearing titania-based photocatalytic surface layer for air conditioning	127:310900	177		
Furnitures Containing Photocatalyst for Deodorization and Sterilization	127:180364	178		
Photocatalytic Reactor With Flexible Supports	123:264984	179		
Drying Apparatus for Dishes and Control of the Apparatus	127:137486	180		
Heat-Resistant Antibacterial Odor-Absorbing Agents for Finishing Fabrics and Treating Fabrics Using Them by Simplified Process	128:35952	181		
Supporting Titanium Oxide Particles on Base Materials for Formation of Photocatalyst Layers	125:66174	182		
Photocatalytic TiO <sub>2</sub> -Coated Material and Fabrication Thereof	125:127572	183		
Photocatalysts and Method for Applying the Catalysts	123:40329	184		
Process for Killing Cells		185		
Antimicrobial and Weather-Resistant Coating Compositions	127:36048	186		
Photocatalyst and Process for Purifying Water	123:40630	187		
Materials for Construction of Hospitals for Preventing Infections	122:170302	188		
Architectural Material Using Metal Oxide Exhibiting Photocatalytic Activity	121:140271	189		
A Redox Method and Membrane-Separated Photoelectrochemical Cell	109:63262b	190		
Apparatus for Purification of Bath Water With Photocatalyst	124:352185	191		
Photo-Catalytic Device With Titania Film for Purification of Air and Water	126:190684	192		

TABLE VI. Patents containing claims or information related cell killing	d to photocatalytic di	isinfection or
Patent title	Chemical Abstracts Reference (volume:abstract number)	Reference number
Metal Oxide Photocatalysts and Their Manufacture	125:127573	193
Photocatalyst and Multifunctional Material Using It	114:235835n	194
Apparatus for Purification and Disinfection of Waters in Pool and Bath With Photocatalyst	126:135416	195
Pool Water and Bath Water Disinfecting Systems	126:242536	196
Titanium Oxide Photocatalyst and Method of Producing the Same	123:241818	197
Disinfection Apparatus in Water Purification	114:88375g	198
Photocatalytic Device	114:130229q	199
Air Treating Method Using Photocatalyst Under Interior Illumination	121:140666	200
Method and Reactor for Photochemical and Photobiological Processes Using Solar Energy, Useful for Drinking Water Disinfection	126:242562	201
Cleaning and Regenerating Photooxidation Catalysts for Water Treatment	123:208376	202
Disinfection and Deodorization Box Having Titania Photocatalyst for Air Purification	126:254782	203
Apparatus for air purification using stacked filters	128:285892	204
Apparatus for water treatment, ultraviolet lamp with photocatalytic coating therefor, and its manufacture	129:32108	205
Water sterilization using photocatalyst under ultraviolet-light radiation	129:32107	206
Manufacture of metal material having photocatalytic activation characteristics	129:47460	207
Deodorization disinfection sheets	129:99205	208
Photoactive water treatment agents and containers for them	128:171915	209

TABLE VI. Patents containing claims or information related to photocatalytic disinfection or cell killing			
Patent title	Chemical Abstracts Reference (volume:abstract number)	Reference number	
Air-conditioning apparatus equipped with deodorization and anti-bacterial function	129:112721	210	
Photocatalyst reactive fibers and photoreaction apparatus for deodorization and disinfection	128:234537	211	

# References

1. T. Matsunaga, R. Tomoda, T. Nakajima, and H. Wake. FEMS Microbiol. Let. 29, 211 (1985).

2. D.M. Blake. Bibliography of Work on the Photocatalytic Removal of Hazardous Compounds from Water and Air. NREL/TP-430-6084. NREL, Golden, CO, 1994.

3. D.M. Blake. Bibliography of Work on the Photocatalytic Removal of Hazardous Compounds from Water and Air Update Number 1, to June, 1995. NREL/TP-473-20300. NREL, Golden, CO, 1995.

4. Rec# 140. D.M. Blake. Bibliography of Work on the Photocatalytic Removal of Hazardous Compounds from Water and Air Update Number 2, to October, 1996. NREL/TP-430-22197. NREL, Golden, CO, 1997.

5. A.L. Linsebigler, G. Lu, and J.T. Yates , Jr. Chem. Rev. 95, 735 (1995).

- 6. M.R. Hoffmann, S.T. Martin, W. Choi, and D.W. Bahnemann. Chem. Rev. 95, 69 (1995).
- 7. A. Hagfeldt and M. Gratzel. Chem. Rev. 95, 49 (1995).
- 8. M.A. Fox and M.T. Dulay. Chem. Rev. 93, 341 (1993).
- 9. K. Rajeshwar. J. Appl. Electrochem. 25, 1067 (1995).

10. a) D.Y. Goswami. J. Solar Energy Eng. **119**, 101 (1997). b) D. Y. Goswami. Vol. 10. Advances in Solar Energy. American Solar Energy Society, Boulder, CO. 1995. pp. 165-209.

11. A. Mills and S. Le Hunte. J. Photochem. Photobiol., A 108, 1 (1997).

12. a) K. Hashimoto and A. Fujishima. Kagaku Sochi **36**, 77 (1994). b) A. Fujishima and S. Fujita. J. Adv. Sci. **9**, 192 (1997). c) M. Watanabe. Kagaku Kogaku **62**, 331 (1998).

13. S. Murasawa. Denki Kagaku Oyobi Kogyo Butsuri Kagaku 63, 9 (1995).

- 14. S. Strauss. Technology Review 23 (1996).
- 15. K.V. Ellis. Crit. Rev. Environ. Control 20, 341 (1991).
- 16. J.-F. Kuo and S.O. Smith. Water Environ. Res. 68, 503 (1996).
- 17. O. Legrini, E. Oliveros, and A.M. Braun. Chem. Rev. 93, 671 (1993).
- 18. Allegra, F. Blasi, and et al. J. Clinical Microb. 35, 1918 (1997).
- 19. Anon. ASHRAE Handbook Applications. ASHRAE, 1991. p. 12.1-12.8.

- 20. R.C. Brown and D. Wake. J. Aerosol Science 22, 181 (1991).
- 21. I.B. Stechkina and A.A. Kirsch. J. Aerosol Science 25, S203 (1994).
- 22. A.D. Russell. AThe Destruction of Bacterial Spores,@Academic Press, New York, NY. 1982.
- 23. C. von Sonntag. Wat. Supply 4, 11 (1986).
- 24. R.A. Larson and M.R. Berenbaum. Environ. Sci. Technol. 22, 354 (1988).
- 25. S.B. Farr and T. Kogoma. Microbiol. Rev. 55, 561 (1991).
- 26. T. Carrell. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 34, 2491 (1995).
- 27. P.J. Dandliker, R.E. Holmlin, and J.K. Barton. Science 275, 1465 (1997).

28. I. Fridovich. AOxygen Radicals and Tissue Injurry - Proceedings of a Brook Lodge Symposium, Augusta, Michigan, April 1987. *Ed.* B. Halliwell. Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, Bathesda, MD, 1988. pp. 1-5.

29. I. Fridovich. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 247, 1 (1986).

30. A. Deisseroth and A.L. Dounce. Physiol. Rev. 50, 319 (1970).

31. P.R. Morey, J.C. Feeley, Jr., and J.A. Otten, eds. Biological Contaminants in Indoor Environments. ASTM, Baltimore, MD. 1990.

32. D.M. Blake, J. Webb, C. Turchi, and K. Magrini. Sol. Energy Materials 24, 584 (1991).

33. G. Munuera, A. Navio, and V. Rivel-Arnau. J.C.S. Faraday Trans. 1 77, 2747 (1981).

34. N. Serpone. Res. Chem. Intermed. 20, 953 (1994).

35. P.V. Kamat. Chem. Rev. 93, 267 (1993).

36. S. D. Aust. **A**Sources of Iron for Lipid Peroxidation in Biological Systems, **@**Augusta, Michigan, April 1987. *Ed.* B. Halliwell. Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, Bathesda, MD, 1988. pp. 27-33.

37. J.B. Neiland. Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 36, 285 (1982).

38. D.C. Borg and K.M. Schaich. Alron and Iron-Derived Radicals,@Augusta, Michigan, April 1987. *Ed.* B. Halliwell. Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, Bathesda, MD, 1988. pp. 20-6.

39. J.C. Gutteridge. ALipid Peroxidation Some Problems and Concepts, Augusta, Michigan, April 1987. *Ed.* B. Halliwell. Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology,

Bathesda, MD, 1988. pp. 9-19.

40. R.J. Youngman. Trends in Biochemical Sciences, 9, 280 (1984).

41. a)J.G. Sczechowski, C.A. Koval, and R.D. Noble. J. Photochem. Photobiol., A **74**, 273 (1993). b) J.G. Sczechowski, C.A. Koval, and R.D. Noble. Chem. Eng. Sci. **50**, 3163 (1995)...

42. E.O. Wilson, T. Eisner, W.R. Briggs, R.E. Dickerson, R.D. Metzenberg, R.D. O'Brien, M. Susman, and W.E. Boggs. ALife on Earth,@Sinauer Associates, Inc., Stamford, CT. 1973. pp. 649-73.

43. A.J. Wicken. Bacterial Adhesion - Mechanisms and Physiological Significance. *Eds.* D.C. Savage and Fletcher Madilyn. Plenum Press, New York, NY. 1985. pp. 45-70.

44. T.J. Beveridge and L.L. Graham. Microbiological Reviews 55, 684 (1991).

45. G. Gottschalk. A Biosynthesis of *Escherichia coli* cells from glucose,@Bacterial Metabolism. *Ed.* M.P. Starr. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY. 1979. pp. 34-80.

46. B.D. Davis, R. Dulbecco, H.N. Eisen, H.S. Ginsberg, W.B. Wood, Jr., and M. McCarty. Microbiology. 2nd edition. Harper and Row, Publishers, Hagerstown, MD. 1973. pp. 201-30.

47. T.J. Beveridge. ASM News 61, 125 (1995).

48. M. Pelczar, Jr., R.D. Reid, and E.C.S. Chan. Microbiology. 4 edition. McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, NY. 1977. pp. 525-529.

49. R.E. Marquis, J. Sim, and S.Y. Shin. J. Appl. Bacteriology 76, 40S (1994).

50. J. M. Arnoson. AThe Cell Wall,@The Fungi. Vol. 1. *Eds.* G.C. Ainsworth and A.S. Sussman. Academic Press, New York, NY. 1965. pp. 49-76.

51. S. Bartnicki-Garcia. **A**Fundamental Aspects of Hyphal Morphogenisis,@Microbial Differentiation. *Eds.* J.M. Ashworth and J.E. Smith. Cambridge University Press, London, UK. 1973. pp. 245-67.

52. R.W. Ruddon. Cancer Biology. 3rd ed. Oxford University Press, Oxford. 1995. p. 3.

53. T.K. Goswami, S. Hingorani, H. Greist, M. Sankar, D.Y. Goswami, and S.S. Block. A Engineering Solutions to Indoor Air Quality Problems, Research Triangle Park, NC, July 1997, Air and Waste Management Association, Pittsburgh, PA, 1997. pp. 339-44.

54. D.Y. Goswami, D.M. Trivedi, and S.S. Block. J. Sol. Energy Eng. 119, 92 (1997).

55. D. Trivedi. Photocatalytic Disinfection of Airborne Microorganisms. University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, 1994.

56. J.C. Ireland, P. Klostermann, E.W. Rice, and R.M. Clark. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **59**, 1668 (1993).

57. R.J. Watts, S. Kong, M.P. Orr, G.C. Miller, and B.E. Henry. Water Res. 29, 95 (1995).

58. C.S. Larsen and A.P. Kruzic. Proc. Water Environ. Fed. Annu. Conf. Expo., 68th. Water Environment Federation, Alexandria, Va., 1995. pp. 271-82.

59. a) R. Dillert, U. Siemon, and D. Bahnemann. Chemie Ingenieur Technik **70**, 308 (1998). b) R. Dillert, U. Siemon, and D. Bahnemann. Chem. Eng. Technol. **21**, 356 (1998). R. Dillert, U. Siemon, and D. Bahnemann. Chem. Eng. Technol. **21**, 356 (1998).

60. M. Abdullah, G.K.C. Low, and R.W. Matthews. J. Phys. Chem. 94, 6820 (1990).

61. R.W. Matthews. Photochemical Conversion and Storage of Solar Energy, Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Photochemical Conversion and Storage of Solar Energy. Palermo, Italy, July 1990. *eds.* E. Pelizzetti and M. Schiavello. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1991. pp. 427-43.

62. S. Okazaki, T. Aoki, and K. Tani. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 54, 1595 (1981).

63. A. Fujishima, R.X. Cai, H. Sakai, R. Baba, K. Hashimoto, and Y. Kubota. Proc. Electrochem. Soc. **93-11**, 363 (1993).

64. a) A. Fujishima, J. Ootsuki, T. Yamashita, and S. Hayakawa. Photomedicine and Photobiology, 8, 45 (1986). b) A. Fujishima, R. Cai, K. Hashimoto, H. Sakai, and Y. Kubota. Photocatalytic Purification and Treatment of Water and Air. Trace Metals and the Environment, London, Ont., November 1993. *eds.* D.F. Ollis and H. Al-Ekabi. Elsevier, New York, NY, 1994. pp. 193-205.

65. H. Wei, X. Yan, and D. Xu. Zhongguo Jishui Paishui 12, 10 (1996).

66. S.S. Block, V.P. Seng, and D.W. Goswami. J. Sol. Energy Eng. 119, 85 (1997).

67. S. Kawashima and S. Nagame. Shika Igaku 57, 129 (1994).

68. M. Stevenson, K. Bullock, W.-Y. Lin, and K. Rajeshwar. Res. Chem. Intermed. 23, 311 (1997).

69. C. Wei, W.Y. Lin, Z. Zainal, N.E. Williams, K. Zhu, A.P. Kruzic, R.L. Smith, and K. Rajeshwar. Environ. Sci. Technol. **28**, 934 (1994).

70. T. Saito, J. Horie, Y. Nara, K. Onoda, and T. Morioka. J. Dental Health 37, 520 (1987).

71. a) Y. Horie, M. Taya, and S. Tone. Kagaku Kogaku Ronbunshu **22**, 1241 (1996). b) Y. Horie, D.A. David, M. Taya, and S. Tone. Ind. Eng. Chem. Research **35**, 3920 (1996).

- 72. P. Zhang, R.J. Scrudato, and G. Germano. Chemosphere 28, 607 (1994).
- 73. T. Saito, T. Iwase, J. Horie, and T. Morioka. J. Photochem. Photobiol., B 14, 369 (1992).

74. J.C. Sjogren and R.A. Sierka. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 60, 344 (1994).

75. J.C. Sjogren. Inactivation of phage MS2 by titanium dioxide photocatalysis (viral disinfection). Univ. of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA, 1996.

76. S. Ngame, T. Oku, M. Kambara, and K. Konishi. J. Dent. Res. 68, 1696 (1989).

77. T. Sakurada. Hyomen Gijutsu **41**, 1008 (1990).

78. H.M. Thornton, G.L. Christensen, and R.P.S. Suri. Hazard. Ind. Wastes 29, 195 (1997).

79. X.Z. Li, M. Zhang, and H. Chua. Water Sci. Technol. 33, 111 (1996).

80. K.V. Araz and M. Bekbolet. **A**Photochemical sterilization of E. coli in drinking water,@8th Kim. Kim. Muhendisligi Semp., *ed.* A. Aydin. 1992. pp. 255-8.

81. a) M. Bekbolet and C.V. Araz. Chemosphere **32**, 959 (1996). b) M. Bekbolet. Wat. Sci. Technol. **35**, 95 (1997).

82. T. Matsunaga and M. Okochi. Environ. Sci. Technol. 29, 501 (1995).

83. H.N. Pham, T. McDowell, and E. Wilkins. J. Environ. Sci. Health, Part A: Environ. Sci. Eng. Toxic Hazard. Subst. Control **A30**, 627 (1995).

84. M. Biguzzi and G. Shama. Letters in Applied Microbiology 19, 458 (1994).

85. T. Matsunaga, R. Tomoda, T. Nakjima, N. Nakumura, and T. Komine. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **54**, 1330 (1988).

86. H.N. Pham, E. Wilkins, A.S. Heger, and D. Kauffman. J. Environ. Sci. Health, Part A: Environ. Sci. Eng. Toxic Hazard. Subst. Control **A32**, 153 (1997).

87. I.M. Butterfield, P.A. Christensen, T.P. Curtis, and J. Gunlazuardi. Water Res. **31**, 675 (1997).

88. T. Ogawa, T. Saito, S. Ohno, T. Yasunaga, Y. Kitagawa, Y. Itoh, K. Ajito, T. Minabe, K. Hashimoto, and A. Fujishima. Titanium '95Sci. Technol., Proc. World Conf., 8th. Eds. P.A. Blenkinsop, W.J. Evans, and H.M. Flower. Institute of Materials, London, UK, 1996. pp. 2089-95.

89. G. Shama, C.J. Peppiatt, M. Booth, and E.F.B. Croft. Titanium '95 Sci. Technol., Proc. World Conf., 8th. Institute of Materials, London, UK, 1996. pp. WTII51-WTII57.

90. W.A. Jacoby, P.C. Maness, E.J. Wolfrum, D.M. Blake, and J.A. Fennell. Environ. Sci. Technol. in press (1998).

91. W.E. Moore, L.V. Holdeman, E.P. Cato, R.M. Smibert, J.A. Burmeister, K.G. Palcanis, and R.R. Ranney. Infect. Immun. **48**, 507 (1985).

92. B. Nyvad and M. Kilian. Scand. J. Dent. Res. 95, 369 (1987).

93. P. E. Kolenbrander and J. London. J. Bacteriol. 175, 3247 (1993).

94. T. Morioka, T. Saito, Y. Nara, K. Onoda. Caries Res. 22, 230 (1988).

95. C. W. Berry, T. J. Moore, J.A. Safar, and M.J. Wagner. Implant Dent. (BPT) 1, 59 (1992).

96. J. Verran and A. A. LeahyGilmartin. Microbios 85, 231 (1996).

97. S. S. Taji and A. H. Rogers. Australian Dental J. 43, 128 (1998).

98. K. Kusunoki, T. Oku, I.H. Kon, K. Nakaya, T. Mori, Y. Hiratuka, M. Taguchi, Y. Watanabe, and T. Miyake. J. Osaka Odont. Soc. **49**, 550 (1986).

99. R. Weiger and N. Engel. Oralprophylaxe (AP7) 13, 32 (1991).

100. R. Cai, K. Itoh, A. Fujushima, and Y. Kubota. Photomedicine and Photobiology **10**, 253 (1988).

101. R. Cai, K. Hashimoto, Y. Kubota, and A. Fujishima. Chem. Let. 427 (1992).

102. R. Cai, K. Hashimoto, K. Itoh, Fujishima, and Akira. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 64, 1268 (1991).

103. R. Cai, Y. Kubota, T. Shuin, H. Sakai, K. Hashimoto, and A. Fujishima. Cancer Research **52**, 2346 (1992).

104. A. Fujishima. Kikan Kagaku Sosetsu 23, 129 (1994).

105. A., Fujishima. *Presented at* 17th U.S.-Japan Cooperative Seminar on Photoconversion and Photosynthesis Research. 1995. pp. 6-8.

106. A. Fujishima. Oyo Butsuri 64, 803 (1995).

107. A. Fujishima, L.A. Nagahara, H. Yoshiki, K. Ajito, and K. Hashimoto. Electrochim. Acta **39**, 1229 (1994).

108. Y. Kubota, M. Hosaka, K. Hashimoto, and A. Fujishima. Reg. Cancer Treat. 8, 192 (1995).

109. H. Sakai, R. Cai, T. Kato, K. Hashimoto, A. Fujishima, Y. Kubota, E. Ito, and T. Yoshioka. Photomed. Photobiol **12**, 135 (1990).

110. H. Sakai, E. Ito, R.-X. Cai, T. Yoshioka, Y. Kubota, K. Hashimoto, and A. Fujishima. Biochim. Biophys. Acta **1201**, 259 (1994).

111. Y. Kubota, T. Shuin, C. Kawasaki, M. Hosaka, H. Kitamura, R. Cai, H. Sakai, K. Hashimoto, and A. Fujishima. Br. J. Cancer **70**, 1107 (1994).

112. H. Sakai, R. Baba, K. Hashimoto, Y. Kubota, and A. Fujishima. Chem. Let. 185 (1995).

113. N. Huang, M. Xu, C. Yuan, and R. Yu. J. Photochem. and Photobiol. A: Chem. **108**, 229 (1997).

114. N. Trabelsi, A. Greffard, J.C. Pairon, J. Bignon, G. Zanetti, B. Fubini, and Y. Pilatte. Environ. Health. Perspect. **105**, 1153 (1997).

115. Y. Kakita, N. Kashige, F. Miake, and K. Watanabe. Biosci. Biotech. Biochem. **61**, 1947 (1997).

116. S. Lee, K. Nishida, M. Otaki, and S. Ohgaki. Water Sci. Technol. 35, 101 (1997).

117. J. Wan, J. Gordon, M.W. Hickey, R.F. Mawson, and M.J. Coventry. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 81, 167 (1996).

118. H. Hidaka, S. Horikoshi, N. Serpone, and J. Knowland. J. Photochem. Photobiol., A **111**, 205 (1997).

119. K. Donaldson, P.H. Beswick, and P.S. Gilmour. Toxicology Letters 88, 293 (1996).

120. R. Dunford, A. Salinaro, L. Cai, N. Serpone, S. Horikoshi, H. Hidaka, and J. Knowland. FEBS Letters **418**, 87 (1997).

121. W.G. Wamer, J.-J. Yin, and R.R. Wei. Free Radical Biol. Med. 23, 851 (1997).

122. B. Stringer, A. Imrich, and L. Kobzik. Cytometry 20, 23 (1995).

123. C.G. Uragoda and R.M.M. Pinto. Med. J. Aust. 59, 167 (1972).

124. S. Daum, H.A. Anderson, Lilis R, W.V. Lorimer, S.A. Fischbein, A. Miller, and I.J. Selikoff. Proc. R. Soc. Med. **70**, 31 (1977).

125. D.H. Garabrant, L.J. Fine, C. Oliver, L. Bernstein, and J.M. Peters. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health **13**, 47 (1987).

126. J.L. Chen and W.E. Fayerweather. J. Occup. Med. 30, 937 (1988).

127. W.E. Fayerweather, M.E. Karns, P.G. Gilby, and J.L. Chen. J. Occup. Med. **34**, 164 (1992).

128. C.A. Moran, F.G. Mullick, K.G. Ishak, F.B. Johnson, and W.B. Hummer. Human Pathol . **22**, 450 (1991).

129. F. Bischoff and G. Bryson. Res. Commun. Chem. Pathol. Pharmacol. 38, 279 (1982).

130. M.D. Shelby, G.L. Erexson, G.J. Hook, and R.R. Tice. Environ. Mol. Mutagen. **21**, 160 (1993).

131. B.K. Bernard, M.R. Osheroff, A. Hofmann, and J.H. Mennear. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health **29**, 417 (1990).

132. J.J. Powell, C.C. Ainley, R.S.J. Harvey, I.M. Mason, M.D. Kendall, E.A. Sankey, A.P. Dillon, and R.P.H. Thompson. GUT **38**, 390 (1996).

133. K.P. Lee, H.J. Trochimowicz, and C.F. Reinhardt. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 42, 331 (1985).

134. A. Churg, B. Stevens, and J.L. Wright. Am. J. Physiol. 274, L81 (1998).

135. B. Stringer, A. Imrich, and L. Kobzik. Cytometry 20, 23 (1995).

136. K.E. Driscoll, J.K. Maurer, R.C. Lindenschmidt, D. Romberger, S.I. Rennard, and L. Crosby. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. **106**, 88 (1990b).

137. K.E. Driscoll, R.C. Lindenschmidt, J.K. Maurer, L. Perkins, M. Perkins, and J. Higgins. Toxicol. Appl.Pharmacol. **111**, 201 (1991).

138. C.H. McMillan, A.D. Jones, J.H. Vincent, A.M. Johnston, A.N. Douglas, and H. Cowie. Environ. Res. 48, 218 (1998).

139. R.F. Henderson, K.E. Driscoll, J.R. Harkema, R.C. Lindenschmidt, I.Y. Chang, K.R. Maples, and E.B. Barr. Fundam. Appl. Toxicol. **24**, 183 (1995).

140. M. Osier and G. Oberdorster. Fundam. Appl .Toxicol. 40, 220 (1997).

141. D.B. Warheit, J.F. Hansen, I.S. Yuen, D.P. Kelly, S.I. Snajdr, and M.A. Hartsky. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. **145**, 10 (1997).

142. G. Oberdorster, C. Cox, and R. Gelein. Exp. Lung Res. 23, 17 (1997).

143. K. Donaldson, X.Y. Li, and W. MacNee. J. Aerosol Sci. 29, 553 (1998).

144. K.P. Lee, D.P. Kelly, P.W. Schneider, and H.J. Trochimowicz. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. **83**, 30 (1986).

145. a) K.P. Lee, H.J. Trochimowicz, and C.F. Reinhardt. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. **79**, 179 (1985). b) K.P. Lee, N.W.3. Henry, H.J. Trochimowicz, and C.F. Reinhardt. Environ. Res. **41**, 144 (1986).

146. S. Rittinghausen, U. Mohr, and D.L. Dungworth. Experimental and Toxicologic Pathology **49**, 433 (1997).

147. R.B. Baggs, J. Ferin, and G. Oberdorster. Vet. Pathol. 34, 592 (1997).

148. H. Muhle, B. Bellmann, O. Creutzenberg, W. Koch, C. Dasenbrock, H. Ernst, U. Mohr, P. Morrow, and R. Mermelstein. Inhalation Toxicology **10**, 699 (1998).

149. T. Ichinose, T. Yamanushi, H. Seto, and M. Sagai. Int. J.Oncology 11, 571 (1997).

150. K. Li, B. Keeling, and A. Churg. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 153, 644 (1996).

151. L. Zeng, Z.R. Zheng, and S.Q. Zhang. Hua Hsi I Ko Ta Hsueh Hsueh Pao **20**, 88 (1989). 152. I. Yamadori, S. Ohsumi, and K. Taguchi. Acta Pathol. Jpn. **36**, 783 (1986).

153. K.E. Driscoll, R.C. Lindenschmidt, J.K. Maurer, J.M. Higgins, and G. Ridder. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. **2**, 381 (1990).

154. M.S. Sun. Chung Hua Yu Fang I Hsueh Tsa Chih 24, 271 (1990).

155. K. Linnainmaa, P. Kivipensas, and H. Vainio. Toxicology in Vitro 11, 329 (1997).

156. B.M. Miller, E. Pujadas, and E. Gocke. Environ. Mol. Mutagen. 26, 240 (1995).

157. P.J. Lu, I.C. Ho, and T.C. Lee. Mutation Research-Genetic Toxicology and Environmnetal Mutagenesis **414**, 15 (1998).

158. R. Bestak and G.M. Halliday. J. Photochem. Photobiol. 64, 188 (1996).

159. R. Bestak, R.S. Barnetson, M.R. Nearn, and G.M. Halliday. J. Invest. Dermatol. **105**, 345 (1995).

160. R. Stokes and B. Diffey. Photodermatology Photoimmunology and Photomedicine **13**, 186 (1997).

161. T.M. Macleod and W. Frain-Bell. Br. J. Dermatol. 92, 149 (1975).

162. M.H. Tan, C.A. Commens, L. Burnett, and P.J. Snitch. Australas. J. Dermatol. **37**, 185 (1996).

163. G. Puccetti, F. Lahjomri, and R.M. Leblanc. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B 39, 110 (1997).

164. L.E. Rode, E.M. Ophus, and B. Gylseth. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. 89, 455 (1981).

165. K. Donaldson, R.E. Bolton, A. Jones, G.M. Brown, M.D. Robertson, J. Slight, H. Cowie, and J.M. Davis. Thorax **43**, 525 (1988).

166. B.C. Myhr and W.J. Caspary. Environ. Mol. Mutagen. 18, 51 (1991).

167. P.A. Steerenberg, J.A. Zonnenberg, J.A. Dormans, P.N. Joon, I.M. Wouters, L. van Bree, P.T. Scheepers, and H. Van Loveren. Exp. Lung Res. **24**, 85 (1998).

168. R.J. Richards, L.R. White, and K.B. Eik-Nes. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 11, 317 (1985).

169. Y. Nakagawa, S. Wakuri, K. Sakamoto, and N. Tanaka. Mutat. Res. 394, 125 (1997).

170. A.L. Lehninger. Biochemistry. Worth Publishers, Inc., 1972. p. 344.

171. S. Orrenius, D.J. McConkey, D.P. Jones, and P. Nicotera. ISI Atlas Sci. Pharmacol. Vol. 2. 1988. pp. 319-24.

172. K. Sunada, Y. Kikuchi, K. Hashimoto, and A. Fujishima. Environ. Sci. Technol. **32**, 726 (1998).

173. B.D. Davis, R. Dulbecco, H.N. Eisen, H.S. Ginsberg, W.B. Wood, Jr., and M. McCarty. Microbiology. 2nd edition. Harper and Row, Publishers, Hagerstown, MD. 1973. p. 638.

174. Y. Kikuchi, K. Sunada, T. Iyoda, K. Hashimoto, and A. Fujishima. J. Photochem. and Photobiol. A: Chem. **106**, 51 (1997).

175. H. Kasai and S. Nishimura. Oxidative stress: Oxidants and Antioxidants. *ed.* H. Sies. Academic Press, New York, NY. 1991. pp. 98-116.

176. P. Jaruga and M. Dizdaroglu. Nucleic Acids Res. 24, 1389 (1996).

177. M. Hasegawa, T. Adachi, and W. Harada. Filters bearing titania-based photocatalytic

surface layer for air conditioning. Japan Patent 09262419. (7 October 1997).

178. O. Hirohata. Furnitures containing photocatalyst for deodorization and sterilization. Japan Patent 09206136 (12 August 1997).

179. W.A. Jacoby and D.M. Blake. Photocatalytic Reactor with Flexible Supports. United States Patent 5449443 (12 September 1995).

180. K. Kameoka. Drying apparatus for dishes and control of the apparatus. Japan Patent 09192078 (29 July 1997).

181. O. Katabuchi, R. Miyagawa, and T. Tadoi. Heat-resistant antibacterial odor-absorbing agents for finishing fabrics and treating fabrics using them by simplified process. Japan Patent 09296364 (18 November 1997).

182. K. Kato and T. Murayama. Supporting titanium oxide particles on base materials for formation of photocatalyst layers. Japan Patent 08117596 (14 May 1996).

183. M. Kiuchi, H. Kojima, K. Ogata, and O. Imai. Photocatalytic TiO<sub>2</sub>-coated material and fabrication thereof. Japan Patent 08134630 (28 May 1996).

184. Y. Kosaka. Photocatalysts and method for applying the catalysts. Japan Patent 07060132 (7 March 1995).

185. T. Matsnaga. Process for Killing Cells. United States Patent 4708038 (29 November 1988).

186. H. Noda. Antimicrobial and weather-resistant coating compositions. Japan Patent 09100437 (15 April 1997).

187. E. Nomura and T. Suita. Photocatalyst and process for purifying water. Europe Patent 634363 (18 January 1995).

188. T. Ogawa, T. Saito, K. Unno, K. Hasegawa, Y. Yoshioka, N. Tsubochi, S. Hosoiri, T. Katayama, A. Fujishima, and K. Hashimoto. Materials for construction of hospitals for preventing infections. Japan Patent 07000462 (6 January 1995).

189. T. Ogawa, Y. Yoshioka, N. Tsubouchi, T. Saito, T. Hasegawa, A. Fujishima, and K. Hashimoto. Architectural material using metal oxide exhibiting photocatalytic activity. Canada Patent 2106510 (23 March 1994).

190. K. Onoda, Y. Ogose, and S. Izumi. A redox method and membrane-separated photoelectrochemical cell. Japan Patent 6328895 (6 February 1988).

191. Y. Ozaki, J. Kawai, and T. Oketa. Apparatus for purification of bath water with

photocatalyst. Japan Patent 08089725 (9 April 1996).

192. K. Sakai, T. Iwasa, and O. Yamanaka. Photo-catalytic device with titania film for purification of air and water. Japan Patent 09000940 (7 January 1997).

193. T. Sakai, K. Murakami, K. Ishikawa, and K. Sasama. Metal oxide photocatalysts and their manufacture. Japan Patent 08126845 (21 May 1996).

194. T. Sakurada. Photocatalyst and multifunctional material using it. Japan Patent 03008448 (16 January 1991).

195. A. Suzuki. Apparatus for purification and disinfection of waters in pool and bath with photocatalyst. Japan Patent 08318267 (3 December 1996).

196. A. Suzuki. Pool water and bath water disinfecting systems. Japan Patent 09029258 (4 February 1997).

197. Y. Takaoka, Y. Hirobe, M. Tomonari, and Y. Kinoshita. Titanium oxide photocatalyst and method of producing the same. Europe Patent 666107 (9 August 1995).

198. I. Tanahashi and A. Nishino. Disinfection apparatus in water purification. Japan Patent 02251290 (9 October 1990).

199. I. Tanahashi and A. Nishino. Photocatalytic device. Japan Patent 02251241 (9 October 1990).

200. T. Watanabe, A. Kitamura, E. Kojima, K. Hashimoto, and A. Fujishima. Air treating method using photocatalyst under interior illumination. World Patent 9411092 (26 May 1994).

201. E. Watzke, A. Kaempfer, M.D. Roth, and C. Hoffmeister. Method and reactor for photochemical and photobiological processes using solar energy, useful for drinking water disinfection. German Patent 19532807. (27 February 1997).

202. K. Yamagata. Cleaning and regenerating photooxidation catalysts for water treatment. Japan Patent 07185340 (25 July 1995).

203. O.Yamanaka, T.Iwasa, M.Tamaki, K.Sakai, and T.Yamaguchi. Disinfection and deodorization box having titania photocatalyst for air purification. Japan Patent 09038190 (10 February 1997).

204. H. Kosaka. Apparatus for air purification using stacked filters. Japan Patent 10085558. (7 April 1998).

205. O. Miki, N. Kanemori, and S. Katayama. Apparatus for water treatment, ultraviolet lamp

with photocatalytic coating therefor, and its manufacture. Japan Patent 10151453 (9 June 1998).

206. S. Miki and N. Kanemori. Water sterilization using photocatalyst under ultraviolet-light radiation. Japan Patent 10151452 (9 June 1998).

207. T. Ogawa, T. Saito, S. Oono, K. Kushibe, F. Kamikubo, T. Yasunaga, T. Kato, Y. Ito, A. Fujishima, and K. Hashimoto. Manufacture of metal material having photocatalytic activation characteristics. Japan Patent 10121266. (12 May 1998).

208. K. Oogami and Y. Iguchi. Deodorization disinfection sheets. Japan Patent 10156141. (16 June 1998).

209. K. Sato. Photoactive water treatment agents and containers for them. Japan Patent 10034143. (10 February 1998).

210. T. Tabuchi. Air-conditioning apparatus equipped with deodorization and anti-bacterial function. Japan Patent 10185228. (14 July 1998).

211. Y. Yoshida. Photocatalyst reactive fibers and photoreaction apparatus for deodorization and disinfection. Japan Patent 10071322. (17 March 1998).